

Zootaxa 4287 (1): 001–063 http://www.mapress.com/j/zt/

Copyright © 2017 Magnolia Press





https://doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.4287.1.1 http://zoobank.org/urn:lsid:zoobank.org:pub:13C4F702-EF00-4F04-B38E-3F0AA6CAF718

ZOOTAXA



A phylogenetic analysis of the aquatic weevil tribe Bagoini (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) based on morphological characters of adults

ROBERTO CALDARA^{1,4}, CHARLES W. O'BRIEN² & MASSIMO MEREGALLI³

¹Center of Alpine Entomology, University of Milan, Via Celoria 2, 20133 Milano, Italy. E-mail: roberto.caldara@gmail.com ²2313 West Calle Balaustre, Green Valley, AZ 85622, U.S.A. E-mail: cobrien6@cox.net ³Dept. Life Sciences, University of Turin, Via Accademia Albertina 13, 10123 Torino, Italy. E-mail: massimo.meregalli@unito.it ⁴Corresponding author



Magnolia Press Auckland, New Zealand

Accepted by D. Clarke: 28 Apr. 2017; published: 5 Jul. 2017

ROBERTO CALDARA, CHARLES W. O'BRIEN & MASSIMO MEREGALLI

A phylogenetic analysis of the aquatic weevil tribe Bagoini (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) based on morphological characters of adults (Zootaxa 4287)

63 pp.; 30 cm. 5 Jul. 2017 ISBN 978-1-77670-172-8 (paperback) ISBN 978-1-77670-173-5 (Online edition)

FIRST PUBLISHED IN 2017 BY Magnolia Press P.O. Box 41-383 Auckland 1346 New Zealand e-mail: magnolia@mapress.com http://www.mapress.com/j/zt

© 2017 Magnolia Press

All rights reserved.

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored, transmitted or disseminated, in any form, or by any means, without prior written permission from the publisher, to whom all requests to reproduce copyright material should be directed in writing.

This authorization does not extend to any other kind of copying, by any means, in any form, and for any purpose other than private research use.

ISSN 1175-5326(Print edition)ISSN 1175-5334(Online edition)

Table of contents

Abstract	3
Introduction	3
Material and methods	5
List of characters	7
Results	. 26
Discussion	. 29
Faxonomy	. 32
Tribe Bagoini	. 32
Genus Hydronomus Schoenherr, 1825 resurrected name	. 33
Genus Memptorrhynchus Iablokoff-Khnzorian, 1960 resurrected name	. 33
Genus Azollaebagous gen. n	. 34
Genus <i>Bagous</i> Germar, 1817	. 34
Subgenus <i>Bagous</i> Germar, 1817	. 35
Subgenus <i>Hydronoplus</i> Fairmaire, 1898 stat. n	. 37
Subgenus <i>Hydrillaebagous</i> subgen. n	. 38
Subgenus Parabagous Schilsky, 1907 resurrected name	. 39
Subgenus Macropelmus Dejean, 1821 stat. n	. 40
Key to the genera and subgenera of Bagoini	. 49
Acknowledgments	. 50
References	. 61

Abstract

Relationships of almost all known Bagoini from the world (Holarctic, Afrotropical and Oriental Regions, and Australia) were analyzed using morphological characters. To define relationships with other Curculionidae and among the species within the tribe, 119 characters were used: 64 of these are genital structures, mainly from the males, where the penis and endophallus are endowed with many complex structures that are apparently unique in Curculionidae. In general, the genital characters appear conservative and tend to resolve relationship at more terminal levels of phylogeny. On the contrary, many external characters are strongly homoplastic, probably secondary modifications associated with their aquatic lifestyle, but which tended to resolve relationships among the lower nodes of the tree. On the basis of this analysis, we confirmed the monophyly of the tribe. Our phylogenetic reconstruction suggests a new taxonomic ordering of the tribe in genera and subgenera. The following taxa, previously considered as synonyms of Bagous Germar, 1817, are resurrected as valid taxa: Hydronomus Schoenherr, 1825 and Memptorrhynchus Iablokoff-Khnzorian, 1960 as genera; Parabagous Schilsky, 1907, Hydronoplus Fairmaire, 1898 (= Pseudobagous Sharp, 1917 syn. n.) (stat. n.) and Macropelmus Dejean, 1821 (= Pnigodes LeConte, 1876 syn. n.) (stat. n.) as subgenera. Azollaebagous gen. n. and Hydrillaebagous subgen. n. of Bagous are created. Among some genera, especially Bagous and its subgenera, we recognize a somewhat large number of species groups, distinguishable mainly by unique character states of the male genitalia. Monophyly of most of these appears well supported. Some of these groups are presently monotypic, but we ascertained that many of them have other representatives not yet described.

Key words: Bagoini, phylogeny, taxonomy, morphology, new taxa, new synonymies

Introduction

Among the approximately 62,000 known weevil species of the world (Oberprieler *et al.* 2007), less than 1% are completely aquatic in their habits. Apart from several species currently included in Brachycerinae: Erirhinini (Oberprieler 2014), a few species belonging to Conoderinae: Ceutorhynchini (Prena *et al.* 2014), and a number of species of Cryptorhynchini: *Tyloderma* Say, 1831 (Wibmer 1981; 1989, as Cryptorhynchinae; Lyal 2014), most aquatic weevils are in the presently monotypic (and *incertae sedis*) tribe Bagoini (Oberprieler *et al.* 2014). The genus *Bagous* Germar, 1817 is distributed world-wide, except for Central and South America (Skuhrovec *et al.* 2011; Oberprieler *et al.* 2014), and is a species-rich and morphologically heterogenous assemblage including 350 described species, 268 of which appear to be possibly valid species (R. Caldara pers. obs.).

A good taxonomic knowledge of Bagoini appears particularly useful for two important reasons. The first is that these species are environmental indicators of fresh water quality, and are susceptible to habitat changes (Sprick 2001). For this reason, unfortunately several of them are threatened or even at risk of extinction. The most

important factors causing a relevant decrease in *Bagous* populations are devastation of biotopes/habitats (disposal of small water pools, clearing of ditches, draining of meadows), water pollution (by herbicides, pesticides and nitrogenous compounds), eutrophication and destruction of host-plants (*e.g.*, by motor boats) or their decreasing as a result of competition with anthropogenic plants (e. g. occurrence of green algae) (Sprick 2001; Stals 2008; Skuhrovec *et al.* 2011; Gosik 2013). Moreover, in the monophagous species all factors responsible for the decrease of the host-plants are to be added to those directly affecting the weevils. Given the low dispersion/dispersal capability of the majority of *Bagous* species, many of their populations should be regarded as a relic of the Ice Age, and a possibility of a successful spreading or redistribution seems to be unlikely (Sprick 2001; Skuhrovec *et al.* 2011).

The second reason is that some *Bagous* species have been used as biological control agents against those of their host plants that have been introduced to various countries where they have become invasive. In the U.S.A, the Indian species *B. affinis* Hustache, 1926 and the Australian species *B. hydrillae* O'Brien, 1992 were introduced as biological control agents of *Hydrilla verticillata* (L. f.) Royle (Buckingham 1988; Buckingham & Bennett 1998; O'Brien & Pajni 1989; Wheeler & Center 1997; Center *et al.* 2013), and some Palaearctic species (*B. collignensis* (Herbst, 1797), *B. longitarsis* Thomson, 1868) and Oriental species (*B. geniculatodes* O'Brien, 1995, *B. vicinus* Hustache, 1926) are currently under study to determine their potential as control agents of the invasive *Myriophyllum spicatum* L. (Cock *et al.* 2008). A further study on the Palaearctic species *B. nodulosus* Gyllenhal, 1836 and *B. validus* Rosenhauer, 1847 has also begun in order to assess the potential of these species as control agents of *Butomus umbellatus* L. (Ivo Toševski pers. comm.), an invasive species that colonized rivers and lakes of Eastern Canada and North-eastern U.S.A. during the last century (Gunderson *et al.* 2016).

According to O'Brien & Askevold (1992), monophyly of Bagoini is based on the following character states: (1) scales granulate, moderately to strongly distinctly pitted; (2) rostrum shorter than pronotum; (3) rostrum with distinct well-developed dorsolateral sulcus above scrobe; (4) antennae inserted near apex of rostrum; (5) prosternum with weak rostral canal, its lateral margins low and subparallel; (6) tibiae with dorsal margin distally slightly arcuate; (7) tarsomeres 3 not bilobed, cordate to subcordate; (8) tarsomeres 3 clothed beneath with fine, dense, recumbent to subrecumbent pubescence; (9) dorsal surface of penis body fully sclerotised at least basally. The common ancestor of Bagoini might possess at least some of these characters. However, as long as presently known, no group of Curculionoidea possesses convincing characters allowing to place it as sister group of Bagoini and this is the reason why this tribe is still considered *incertae sedis*.

Historically, Bagoini were long considered as either part of the large subfamily Curculioninae (Reitter 1913; Hoffmann 1954) or else included in Erirhinini (when these were treated as a distinct subfamily: O'Brien & Marshall 1979), always based on general similarities and not on precisely defined characters. Based on the male genitalia, Kuschel (1971) distinguished Bagoinae from "true" Erirhininae, and both Thompson (1992) and Alonso-Zarazaga & Lyal (1999) followed his opinion. The placement of Bagoini in Molytinae by O'Brien et al. (1994) was not supported by any detailed synapomorphies, but was again based upon similarities in characters of the genitalia and tibial structure. Oberprieler et al. (2007) suggested that Bagoini might be related to the subfamily Brachycerinae, despite having, unlike the latter, a pedal type of aedeagus (one in which, among other features, the penis lacks a distinct dorsal sclerite, or tectum). However, more recently, Oberprieler et al. (2014) preferred to treat Bagoini as a tribe *incertae sedis*, emphasizing that the lack of a pedotectal type of aedeagus in Bagoini is not a major issue, since it is possible that a pedal type of aedeagus has evolved more than once. In fact, there are also a number of species included in the erirhinine genera Echinocnemus Schoenherr, 1843, Cryptolarynx van Schalkwyk, 1966, and *Tanysphyrus* Germar, 1817 that either have a tectum that is so reduced that it is barely distinct, or lack a tectum entirely. Molecular phylogenetic analyses (Marvaldi et al. 2002; Hunt et al. 2007; McKenna et al. 2009; Gunter et al. 2015) have as yet not been able to clearly elucidate the taxonomic affinities of Bagous, but generally placed it in the "basal" nodes of the phylogram, near the subfamilies Dryophthorinae, Platypodinae and Brachycerinae, and thus among the subfamilies lacking some apparently derived characters. Gillett et al. (2014) hypothesized that Bagoinae might be sister to all other Curculionidae, excluding Brachycerinae (including Erirhinini and Ocladius Schoenherr, 1825) and Dryophthorinae, which they considered as separated families. Finally, in the catalogue of the Australian weevils, Pullen et al. (2014) treated Bagoini as a tribe of Brachycerinae, without any explanation, but probably based on Oberprieler's belief.

It has been shown that in Bagoini the study of male genitalia is fundamental for identification of species as well as for phylogenetic analysis, whereas many external characters are highly homoplastic (O'Brien & Askevold

1992; Askevold *et al.* 1994; Caldara & O'Brien 1998). From a comprehensive morphological study, especially of the complex structure of the male genitalia, Caldara & O'Brien (1998) concluded that Bagoini, as then delimited, constituted a monophyletic group composed of about 50 monophyletic species groups. For a few of them, distinct generic or subgeneric names had been previously proposed. However, the recognition of such genera or subgenera would require the erection of some 40–50 additional generic and infrageneric taxa, resulting in a very unwieldy classification system. Moreover, an important number of species from Afrotropical, Oriental and East Palaearctic Regions, and from North America were not yet revised. Caldara & O'Brien (1998) therefore proposed not to recognise any supraspecific taxa in Bagoini except for *Bagous* and provisionally decided to treat all clusters of species in this genus as informal species groups. Subsequently, all authors dealing with Bagoini followed this provisional plan (Alonso-Zarazaga & Lyal 1999, Skuhrovec *et al.* 2011, Oberprieler *et al.* 2014).

In the last decades the faunas of Australia (O'Brien & Askevold 1992), Japan (Askevold *et al.* 1994; O'Brien *et al.* 1994, 1995), the Indian subcontinent (O'Brien & Askevold 1995), and the western Palaearctic region (Caldara & O'Brien 1998) were taxonomically revised. On the basis of phylogenetic analyses, seven species groups were identified in Australia (O'Brien & Askevold 1992), and eight in Japan. Some of these groups are endemic to a single region, others have representatives in one or more other regions (Askevold *et al.* 1994; O'Brien *et al.* 1994), and phylograms were published for the species from the last two regions. Relationships among the Indian (O'Brien & Askevold 1995) and the western Palaearctic (Caldara & O'Brien 1998) taxa have also been investigated, and the known species referred to 18 (three endemic) and 24 (15 endemic) species groups respectively. However, phylograms for these taxa were not published in these two papers.

During the last ten years we have had the opportunity to examine the majority of the species described from the regions not yet taxonomically revised, mainly based on type specimens. Therefore, through analyzing more than 220 species of Bagoini, which represent about 85% of the hitherto known species, plus several still undescribed species, we are now able to infer relationships among the members of Bagoini known to occur in the entire Holarctic, Afrotropical and Oriental Regions, and those from Australia and Japan. The goal of the present analysis is to provide a comprehensive phylogenetic framework, which we view as fundamental to the task of creating a plausible taxonomic arrangement of *Bagoini*.

Material and methods

Taxon sampling. The present analysis was based on the study of 138 species previously recognized by O'Brien & Askevold (1992), Askevold *et al.* (1994), O'Brien & Askevold (1995) and Caldara & O'Brien (1998), and belonging to the Australian, Japanese, Indian, and Western Palaearctic faunas, respectively, with the addition of 74 species from the Afrotropical, Oriental, Eastern Palaearctic, and North American Regions. For the updated taxonomy of the Palaearctic species we followed Caldara (2013). We studied type specimens of 222 of the 268 known valid species. In order to test the monophyly of the ingroup (genus *Bagous sensu* Caldara & O'Brien 1998) we included nine other Curculionoidea in our analysis: Brentidae: *Apion frumentarium* (Linnaeus, 1758) (Apioninae: Apionini); Curculionidae: *Notaris scirpi* (Fabricius, 1792) and *Picia sinuatocollis* (Faust, 1885) (Brachycerinae: Tanysphyrini), *Curculio nucum* Linnaeus, 1758 (Curculioninae: Curculionini), *Ita crassirostris* Tournier, 1878 (Curculioninae: Itini), *Orthochaetes setiger* (Beck, 1817) (Curculioninae: Styphlini), and *Hylobius abietis* (Linnaeus, 1758) (Molytinae: Molytini). These species were chosen based on the hypothetical affinities previously suggested, and also considering the more recent molecular data on the possible relationships among the Bagoini and other tribes, as discussed above.

In our matrix (Table1) we generally reported the type species of all the genera and subgenera previously described in the Bagoini and the species giving the name to the groups previously proposed for Australian and Japanese species (O'Brien & Askevold 1992; Askevold *et al.* 1994), for the Indian fauna (O'Brien & Askevold 1995) and by Caldara & O'Brien (1998) for the western-Palaearctic species. Species in the non-monotypic groups that showed character states different from those of the name-bearing species of the groups were also added to the study. Species whose character states were identical to those of another species were excluded from the analysis, but they were added to the species list of each species group or taxon and, when necessary, were reported in the discussion of each group.

Phylogenetic analysis-Morphology. Characters were selected based on observable variation among the

species that could be parsed into unambiguous discrete states, characters being scored based on direct observation of specimens under the stereomicroscope and photographs of the morphological structures. Genitalia were dissected manually after boiling the entire abdomen in 10% KOH, then were observed in 90% glycerol and illustrated. For terms of weevil characters we followed Lyal (2016). The matrix consists of 119 morphological characters, 55 nongenital and 64 genital, scored for 87 species of Bagoini and 9 species of other Curculionoidea (Table 1). Apion frumentarium was used as the root for the phylograms. Equal weight was assigned to all characters and character states. No preliminary polarity assessment was attempted, and all multi-state characters were considered non-additive. Since probabilistic analyses were also implemented, autapomorphic character-states were not excluded from the matrix. The number of characters considered in the present study increased consistently in comparison with those, 54 and 71, used respectively by O'Brien & Askevold (1992) for the Australian species, and Askevold et al. (1994) for the joined Australian and Japanese species. In the latter paper the character set used was only a part of a larger set, as yet unpublished, composed of 127 characters, that was developed for the study of the world Bagoini. The numeration in Askevold et al. (1994) followed this set of characters, with intervals in the numbered sequence after the exclusion of characters typical to extralimital species. Several of the 127 characters included in the unpublished list were also used here, although variously modified. However, after the inclusion of the supplementary species, some of the characters used by Askevold et al. (1994) were excluded from the analysis, since they appeared to vary more or less randomly and/or continuously in clearly unrelated taxa. They are mainly: the body shape, the presence or absence of carinae and sulci on the dorsum of the rostrum, the insertion of the antennae, the shape of the pronotal disc, the longitudinal pronotal sulcus, the shape of the elytral humeri, the presence or absence of tibial denticles, the form of the apodemes of the penis, and the form and direction of the arms of the spiculum ventrale. We added several characters concerning the shape of the antennal funicle and the scrobe, the vestiture of the rostrum and the elytra, and some characters of the genitalia (especially the structure of the sclerites of the endophallus and the shape of the apodemes of the spiculum ventrale), which proved very useful for inferring relationships at genus-rank. However, the general plan of the Bagoini proposed by O'Brien & Askevold (1992) and Askevold et al. (1994) was only slightly modified in the present study.

Some particular structures of the penis need a brief explanation: (1) a basal plate, *i.e.*, a proximal extension of the ventral surface of the penis body between the apodemes visible in dorsal view (many species of the B. bipunctatus, B. binodulus and B. argillaceus groups: Figs 5E-F); (2) a dorsal process, projecting from the posterolateral margin of the orifice and concealing it at least in part, fused to the penis body and incapable of rotation or longitudinal articulation (characterising a possibly monophyletic lineage composed of several groups) (Figs 7D–I, 8B–D); (3) a "false" dorsal process, similar to the dorsal process but formed by flexible sclerites (in the B. biimpressus group; e.g., B. geniculatus: Fig. 7A); (4) a setal brush, i.e., a group of dense long setae usually projecting mesad, often associated with the dorsal process (the B. brevis, B. collignensis and B. biimpressus groups; e.g., B. geniculatus: Figs 7E–I); (5) denticles, i.e., fine asperities just discernable under a light microscope and best seen from above, occurring in three locations: on the lateral margin distally of the dorsal process and projecting distad (e.g., the *B. frit* group: Fig. 8C), on the dorsal process on what appears to be the internal surface when the dorsal process is open (e.g., the B. frit and B. transversus groups: Figs 7F-G, 8C) or in the endophallus, of different sizes, shapes and densities at particular locations (e.g., the B. bipunctatus and B. lutosus groups); (6) a number of various endophallic sclerites located near the orifice or within the tube (i.e., the part of the body of the penis excluding the orificial portion) or proximally between the apodemes and varying in size, shape and complexity, from the simplest U- to V-shaped (Figs 5A–F, 6C–F) to an ensemble of articulated and fused, cylindrical, clavate to horn-like or flattened, triangular to rectangular to blade-like structures, sometimes with groups of setae intermixed (it is noteworthy that all the species with a dorsal process lack sclerites of the endophallus at its base, between the apodemes, and within the tube of the penis body: Figs 6G-I); (7) the distal and proximal orificial margins, the former generally fairly distinct but the latter typically indistinct, membranous and forming the point of evagination of the endophallus but occasionally distinct and extended into a prominent dorsal sac-supporting sclerite, or concealed in species with a dorsal process; (8) an orificial plate, *i.e.*, a moveable, more or less sclerotised distal extension of the dorsal surface of the penis body covering part of the orifice and varying in size and shape (e.g., the B. lutosus and B. tempestivus groups), horizontal and directed anteriad in repose when the orifice is closed but vertical when the orifice is open (Figs 6B, 6E); (9) a very unusual ventral process fused directly to the ventral surface of the penis body, incapable of rotation or longitudinal articulation and projecting dorsad (e.g., the B. cylindricus group: Fig. 6G).

Parsimony analysis (MP) was performed with TNT 1.1 (Goloboff *et al.* 2008) with a script supplied with the package (aquickie.run). The script provides the maximum parsimony tree, with symmetric resampling and Bremer support; synapomorphies are mapped onto the tree branches. However, the script was slightly modified to increase statistical validity of the analysis: optimal score was set to 1000 replications, instead of 20, and symmetric resampling was set to 1000 replications, instead of 100. Tree statistics were calculated using a TNT script (stats.run) supplied with the package.

The maximum likelihood (ML) tree was inferred with raxmlGUI1.1 (Silvestro & Michalak 2012) using a MarkovK + Γ model. Support values were computed with 1000 bootstrap replications.

Bayesian inference (BI) was performed using MrBayes 3.2 (Ronquist *et al.* 2012). We ran two runs with 4 MCMC chains, each for 1 million generations under a binary MarkovK + Γ model, sampling every 200 generations. The first 25% generations were discarded (burn-in) and convergence was evaluated with the average standard deviation of split frequencies. Goodness of mixing was assessed by looking at the acceptance rate of swaps between adjacent chains, following Ronquist *et al.* (2009).

One of our analyses included only the type species of each genus-rank taxon in the tribe Bagoini, regardless of its present day interpretation as a valid taxon or a synonym (type-species analysis from here on). This was done to ascertain relationships among the genus-rank taxa, as defined by their type-species, and confirm or reject the present day classification. A further analysis included all the taxa in the tribe, and it was carried out in order to give a precise generic attribution to all the species, to delimit the field of morphological variation within each genus, and to recognize cases of uncertainty in the generic placement of some species (all-species analysis from here on). Trees were examined with Figtree 1.4.2 (Rambaut 2014), and graphically enhanced with Photoshop CS3 (Adobe Systems Inc.).

Phylogenetic analysis—**mtCOI.** The mitochondrial cytochrome oxydase subunit 1 sequences were retrieved from GenBank for all the available *Bagous* species. Eight additional sequences [*B. bagdatensis* Pic, 1904, *B. lutulentus* (Gyllenhal, 1813), *B. robustus* Brisout de Barneville, 1863, *B. exilis* Jacquelin duVal, 1854, *B. monanthiphagus* Stüben, 2010, *B. elegans* (Fabricius, 1801), *B. petro* (Herbst, 1795) and *B. binodulus* (Gyllenhal, 1813)] were provided by P. Stüben and A. Schütte, who recently studied them (Stüben *et al.* 2015). Two more sequences were provided by I. Toševski [*B. nodulosus* (Gyllenhal, 1836) and *B. argillaceus* (Gyllenhal, 1836)]. These ten sequences have been assigned GenBank accession numbers and will be uploaded to GenBank. Sequences of the other Curculionoidea species used for the morphological analysis were also retrieved from GenBank. BI was performed using MrBayes 3.2. Two runs with 4 chains were run for 1 million generations, sampling every 200 generations. The chains were left free to sample all the models of the GTR family using a reversible jump Monte Carlo Markov Chain (MCMC) (Huelsenbeck *et al.* 2004). Heterogeneity of substitution rates among different sites was modeled with a 4 categories discretized Γ distribution and with a proportion of invariable sites. The first 25% of generations were discarded (burn-in) and convergence was evaluated with the average standard deviation of split frequencies. Goodness of mixing was assessed looking at the acceptance rate of swaps between adjacent chains, following Ronquist *et al.* (2009).

We considered a group to be not supported if support values [posterior probability (ps) in BI, bootstrap (bs) % in ML and symmetric resampling (sr) in MP] were below 50%; weakly supported if between 50 and 79%, moderately supported if between 80 and 89%, and strongly supported if values were 90% or higher.

Abbreviations and symbols used in the species lists: AFR=Afrotropical Region; AUS=Australia; NAR=North American Region; ORR=Oriental Region; PAL=Palaearctic Region.

Species labeled with an * were used in the phylogenetic analysis based on morphology. The small number in apices before the species name in the checklists of each taxon and species group identifies the species that had the same sequence of character states. These species were therefore grouped in the matrix under a single species, that is labeled with an *. Species labeled with [§] were used in the phylogenetic analysis based on mtCOI.

List of characters

The characters with the numbers used by Askevold *et al.* (1994) in the previous most comprehensive phylogenetic study, including Australian and Japanese species, are reported in parentheses.

External structures

char. 1. Body length (rostrum excluded) (char. 76 in Askevold *et al.* 1994).
0. >2.2 mm.
1. <2.0 mm.
char. 2. Scales, structure (char. 77 in Askevold *et al.* 1994, modified).
0. all flat, not pitted.

1. partly not pitted and partly pitted.

2. all pitted.

char. 3. If char. $2\neq 0$, type of pitted scales.

0. with several pits (Figs 1E, 2C).

1. with a single pit (Fig. 2B).

char. 4. Rostrum, length (char. 78 in Askevold et al. 1994, modified).

0. long to moderately short (length/width > 4).

1. distinctly short (length/width < 3).

char. 5. Rostrum, sexual dimorphism in cross-section.

0. no dimorphism.

1. subquadrate in male, cylindrical in female.

char. 6. Rostrum, dorsal surface at point of antennal insertion (char. 82, in Askevold et al. 1994).

0. flat to regularly convex (Figs 1A, 1C).

1. distinctly angulate (Fig. 1D).

char. 7. Rostrum, curvature of ventral margin in lateral view.

0. moderately curved (Fig. 1D).

1. strongly curved (Fig. 1B).

2. straight.

char. 8. Rostrum, dorsal apical third.

0. more or less uniformly convex (Fig. 1H).

1. flattened (Figs 1B, 1D, 1F).

char. 9. Rostrum, apex.

0. laterally not carinate.

1. laterally carinate (Fig. 1F).

char. 10. Rostrum, suprascrobal sulcus (char. 80 in Askevold et al. 1994).

0. absent.

1. present, more or less distinct (Figs 1C–D).

char. 11. Rostrum, apical lateral and dorsal setae.

0. absent or very few (Fig. 1A).

1. numerous (Fig. 1B).

char. 12. Rostrum, setae and/or scales at middle 1/3 of ventral margin.

0. sparse.

1. numerous.

2. very numerous, arranged in a dense fringe (Figs 1C, 2D).

char. 13. Rostrum, setae at basal 2/3 of rostrum, laterally.

- 0. irregularly spaced.
- 1. with row of regularly spaced setae along entire lateral margin close to ventral margin (Fig. 1F).
- char. 14. Scrobe, vestiture.
 - 0. glabrous (Figs 1B–C).
 - 1. squamose (Fig. 1A).
- char. 15. Scrobe in dorsal view, visibility.
 - 0. at most visible at antennal insertion (Fig. 1F).
 - 1. visible for entire length (Fig. 1G).
- char. 16. Scrobe in lateral view, direction.
 - 0. oblique to length of rostrum.
 - 1. parallel to length of rostrum (Figs 1A–B).
- char. 17. If char. 16=1, extension of scrobe.
 - 0. reaching eye (Figs 1B, 1D). 1. not reaching eye (Fig. 1A).
 - 1. not reaching eye (Fig. 1A).
- char. 18. Antennal scape, insertion.
 - 0. lateral (Fig. 1H).
 - 1. laterodorsal (Figs 1E-G).
- char. 19. Antennae, funicle.
 - 0. with 7 segments.
 - 1. with 6 segments.
- char. 20. If char. 19=0, length of seventh funicular segment.0. transverse (Fig. 2D).1. at least as long as wide (Fig. 2E).
- char. 21. If char. 19=0, width of seventh funicular segment in relation to sixth funicular segment. 0. wider than sixth.
 - 1. nearly as wide as sixth (Figs 2D,–E).
- char. 22. Antennae, sixth funicular segment.
 - 0. with pubescence as dense as on segments 1–5. 1. with pubescence denser than on segments 1–5.
- char. 23. Antennal club structure.
 - 0. more or less uniformly pubescent (Fig. 2D).
 - 1. glabrous (Fig. 2E).
- char. 24. Forehead between eyes, median depression.
 - 0. not sulcate nor foveate (Figs 1E-F, 1H).
 - 1. sulcate or foveate (Fig. 1G).
- char. 25. Upper margin of eye.
 - 0. at a level under that of the forehead.
 - 1. at a level slightly over that of the forehead.

char. 26. Pronotum, length.

- 0. Pronotum 0.85x or less as long as broad.
- 1. Pronotum 0.90x or more as long as broad.

char. 27. Pronotum, sides.

- 0. without tubercles (Fig. 2B).
- 1. with prominent tubercle (Fig. 2A).

char. 28. Pronotal disc, vestiture.

- 0. without scales emarginate at apex.
- 1. with sublunate scales, distinctly emarginate at apex.

char. 29. Basal portion of pronotum.

- 0. covered with more or less round scales.
- 1. broadly covered with plumose scales (Fig. 2C).

char. 30. Prosternal-postocular lobe area.

0. ventrally indistinct, not raised, not forming discontinuity with anterior prosternal margin (Figs 3A, 3B, 3D). 1. ventrally distinct, moderately to markedly raised, forming discontinuity with anterior prosternal margin and with anterior point of lateral margin of rostral canal (Fig. 3C).

char. 31. Prosternum, rostral canal (char. 103 in Askevold et al. 1994).

- 0. absent (Fig. 3A, 3D).
- 1. weak (Fig. 3B).
- 2. deep (Fig. 3C).

char. 32. Prosternum, basal transverse ridge.

0. absent.

1. weak.

2. distinct (Fig. 3D).

char. 33. If char. 31≠0, prosternum, postero-lateral margins of rostral canal (char. 104 in Askevold *et al.* 1994).
0. barely raised.

1. sharply raised, markedly rounded or subacute just in front of coxae (Fig. 3C).

2. strongly acute and projecting posterad over procoxae.

char. 34. Elytra, shape.

- 0. rectangular (Fig. 4C).
- 1. subquadrate (Fig. 4A).

char. 35. Base of elytral intervals.

0. squamulate.

1. glabrous (Fig. 2C).

char. 36. Declivital callus of fifth elytral interval (char. 116 in Askevold et al. 1994).

0. absent (Figs 3E, 4A).

1. present, although sometimes barely developed (Figs 3F-G, 4C).

char. 37. Elytra, posterior declivity in lateral view.

0. moderate, <60 degrees (Fig. 4D).

1. strong, at least 75 degrees (Fig. 4B).

char. 38. Apex of elytron.

0. convex, but not acuminate.

1. moderately acuminate.

2. very strongly acuminate (Fig. 3F).

char. 39. Vestiture of elytral intervals, vittate pattern.

0. absent.

1. present to apex (Fig. 3F).

2. present only in basal 2/3.

char. 40. Vestiture of elytra, semicircular white fascia at posterior third.

0. absent (Figs 4C–D).

1. present (Figs 4A-B).

char. 41. Arrangement of scales of elytral intervals (char. 106 in Askevold et al. 1994).

0. irregularly arranged, each interval with more than two rows of tightly fitting scales.

1. arranged in regular pairs, side by side, each interval with two, individually distinct rows of round scales.

char. 42. Elytral strial punctures.

0. small (Figs 3E–F).

1. large, from one third to more than a half of interval width (Fig. 2H).

char. 43. Abdomen, punctures (more clearly visible after removal of scales).

0. small (Fig. 4H).

1. large (Fig. 4G).

char. 44. Ventrite 5, impression.

0. without median impression.

1. with shallow to moderately shallow median impression (Fig. 4F).

2. with median impression with weakly carinate margin (Fig. 4E).

char. 45. If char. 44=2, ventrite 5, median impression with carinate margin.

0. without setae.

1. bearing row of long setae (Fig. 4E).

char. 46. Ventrite 5, sides.

0. without pit with setae.

1. with a pit with 1–4 pairs of setae (Fig. 4F).

char. 47. Tibiae, swimming hairs (char. 121 in Askevold et al. 1994).

0. Tibiae with bristles of inner margin of moderate length, not longer than diameter of tibia (Figs 3H-I).

1. Tibiae with long fine swimming hairs, many of them much longer than diameter of tibia (Fig. 3J).

char. 48. Tibiae, outer margin (character especially visible on hind tibiae in lateral view).

0. straight or nearly so toward apex (Figs 3–I).

1. slightly to strongly arcuate toward apex (Fig. 3J).

char. 49. Tibiae, inner margin (char. 123 in Askevold et al. 1994).

0. from base to point of arcuation, slightly to markedly arcuate, inner margin appearing somewhat sinuate (Figs 3H, 3I).

1. with outer and inner margin more or less parallel to apex (Fig. 3J).

char. 50. Tibiae, inner margin.

0. without large submedian tooth (Fig. 3J).

1. with large submedian tooth (Fig. 3I).

char. 51. Tarsomere 2, shape (char. 125 in Askevold et al. 1994, modified).

0. weakly to distinctly longer than wide (Fig. 2G).

1. distinctly transverse (Fig. 2F).

char. 52. Tarsomere 3, shape (char. 125 in Askevold *et al.* 1994, modified). 0. completely bilobed.

1. not bilobed (Fig. 2G), at most very broadly cordate (Fig. 2F).

char. 53. Tarsomere 3, pubescence (char. 126 in Askevold et al. 1994).

0. clothed beneath with dense, erect pubescence.

- 1. clothed beneath with fine to coarse, dense, recumbent to subrecumbent pubescence (Fig. 3H).
- 2. subglabrous beneath, with few long setae (Fig. 3J).

char. 54. Apical margin of female tergite VII, thickness.

0. relatively thin.

1. thickened.

char. 55. Apical margin of female tergite VII, shape.

0. rounded to bluntly rounded.

1. truncate to slightly emarginate.

2. deeply emarginate.

MALE GENITAL CHARACTERS

char. 56. Aedeagus.

0. of pedotectal type (with tectum).

1. of pedal type (without tectum).

char. 57. Penis body, length.

0. length / width > 4 (Figs 6F–G, 8C–D).

1. length / width \leq 3 (Figs 5A–B).

char. 58. Penis body in cross-section (char. 52 in Askevold et al. 1994).

0. cylindrical to subcylindrical.

1. T-shaped, the sides deeply compressed in basal two thirds and almost meeting at midline.

char. 59. Penis body, apex.

0. rounded to more or less acute, but not sagittate (Fig. 7F).

1. more or less sagittate (Figs 6H, 7E).

char. 60. Penis body, apex.

0. without long pili.

1. with long pili (Fig. 5D).

char. 61. Penis body, apical part (char. 36 in Askevold et al. 1994).

0. symmetrical.

1. asymmetrically deflected to left (Fig. 8C).

char. 62. Penis body, dorsally (char. 42 in Askevold et al. 1994).

0. without longitudinal furrows.

1. with dorsolateral, longitudinal furrows, one on each side, forming acute, raised margin extending from behind orifice to midlength or further, and dorsal surface markedly convex but depressed below level of lateral margin.

char. 63. Penis body, dorsal surface.

0. sclerotized.

1. with sclerotized area greatly reduced and present only as a narrow basal bridge (Fig. 5H).

char. 64. Penis body, dorsal surface at base (char. 27 in Askevold et al. 1994).

0. more or less emarginate (Fig. 6G).

1. truncate (Fig. 6C).

char. 65. Penis body, shape ventrolaterally (char. 31 in Askevold et al. 1994).

0. uniformly rounded, without oval lobe.

1. with oval lobe in apical third (Fig. 7B).

char. 66. Penis body, lateral margin laterad and distad of orifice.

0. smooth.

1. denticulate (Fig. 8C).

char. 67. Penis body, sides.

0. completely sclerotized.

1. partly membranous (Fig. 8A).

char. 68. Penis body, shape ventrally (char. 26 in Askevold et al. 1994).

0. uniformly rounded.

1. triangular in cross-section, at about median region.

char. 69. Penis body, ventrobasally (in lateral view).

0. with ventral outline continuous to base.

1. with ventrobasal notch (Fig. 6D).

char. 70. Penis body, ventrobasal margin (char. 29 in Askevold et al. 1994).

0. not extending posteriorly (Fig. 5B).

1. with short, ventrobasal plate extending between apodemes, not forming an acute median point visible from above (Fig. 5F).

2. with short, ventrobasal plate extending between apodemes, forming an acute median point visible from above (Fig. 5E).

char. 71. Penis body, shape ventrobasally (char. 30 in Askevold et al. 1994).

0. uniformly rounded.

1. ventrobasal area medially depressed, ventrolaterally slightly costate at base.

2. ventrobasal area medially depressed, ventrolaterally distinctly bicarinate from apodeme to about one-third of length of penis body.

char. 72. Penis body, ventral longitudinal furrow.

0. ventrally convex to nearly flattened.

1. with subapical, ventral depression extending toward base and forming shallow to prominent sulcus.

char. 73. Penis body, orifice (char. 16 in Askevold et al. 1994, modified).

0. without long setal brush.

1. with long setal brush (Fig. 7H).

char. 74. Penis body, laminar orificial lateral sclerites.

0. absent.

1. present although in some species only distinguishable at apical portion (Figs 5A–B, 5E, 5G, 6A, 6C). char. 75. If char. 74=1, position of orificial lateral sclerites.

0. flat in more or less same level.

1. obliquely uniformly raised.

2. raised and basally recurved upwards.

char. 76. If char. 74=1, lateral margin of orificial lateral sclerites.

0. not reaching anterior margin of orifice (Figs 5E–F).

1. reaching anterior margin of orifice (Fig. 6A).

char. 77. If char. 74=1, attachment of orificial lateral sclerites apically.

0. apex not attached to sides of penis body (Fig. 6C).

1. apically attached to sides of penis body (Fig. 7A).

char. 78. If char. 74=1, movement of orificial lateral sclerites.

0. immovable.

1. distinctly laterally movable (Fig. 7A).

char. 79. Penis body, horizontal dorsal plate of orifice.

0. absent.

- 1. bell-shaped (Fig. 5C).
- 2. heart-shaped (Fig. 7C).
- 3. oval (Fig. 6B).
- 4. elongate-rectangular (Fig. 6E).

char. 80. If char. $79 \neq 0$, movement of dorsal plate over orifice of penis body.

- 0. immovable (Figs 5C, 7C).
- 1. movable (Figs 6B, 6E).

char. 81. If char. 79≠0, sclerite of dorsal plate over orifice of penis body.

- 0. without median sclerite rising from orificial sclerites.
- 1. with orificial margin rising to form submedian elongate sac-supporting sclerite (Figs 6B, 6E).

char. 82. Penis body, median orificial sclerites, shape (char. 1 in Askevold et al. 1994, modified).

0. absent.

- 1. with U-shaped, hooked process (Fig. 7B).
- 2. with U-shaped, hemispherical sclerite.
- 3. with upturned Y-shaped process (Fig. 6F).

char. 83. Penis body, sclerite of dorsal area of orifice (char. 8 in Askevold et al. 1994).

0. orifice without lateral sclerite.

1. orifice with lateral, transverse vertical sclerite (Fig. 7D).

char. 84. Sclerites complex within tube of penis body, shape.

0. absent.

1. with a pair of submedian, subapical sclerites well separated from each other (Figs 5E, 6C).

2. with a pair of submedian, subapical sclerites posteriorly joined (Fig. 6H).

3. with a pair of submedian, subbasal sclerites well separated from each other.

4. with two pairs of subapical sclerites: a submedian pair, with sclerites adpressed together and a sublateral pair, with sclerites posteriorly joined (Fig. 6I).

5. with two pairs of subapical sclerites: a submedian pair, with sclerites well separated from each other and a sublateral pair, posteriorly joined (Fig. 6G).

char. 85. If char. 84=5, penis body, ventrally.

0. without sclerites fused to ventral portion.

1. with a median sclerite fused to ventral portion and not movable (Fig. 6G).

char. 86. If char. 84=1, shape of submedian sclerites.

0. subtriangular with point at apex (Fig. 6C).

1. subtriangular with point at base (Fig. 5E).

char. 87. Spicules and denticles within tube of penis body.

0. absent or distributed more or less uniformly, not forming large, concentrated areas.

1. with a pair of lateral concentrations of numerous fine denticles (Fig. 5F).

2. with a pair of lateral concentrations of sparse large denticles.

char. 88. Sclerite complex within tube of penis body (char. 2 in Askevold et al. 1994).

0. not entwined by spicules.

1. entwined by many very small spicules (Fig. 6E).

char. 89. Subbasal spicules of endophallus (char. 2 in Askevold et al. 1994, modified).

0. absent or very fine and distributed more or less uniformly, not forming concentrated areas.

1. with subbasal pair of dense concentrations of fine elongate spicules (Fig. 6A).

2. with many large spicules (Fig. 5C).

char. 90. Basal sclerites of endophallus.

0. absent.

1. with two pairs of subclavate sclerites variously articulated (Fig. 5C, 5D).

2. with two elongate curved sclerites (Fig. 5B).

3. with two overlapped plates (Fig. 5A).

4 with two pairs of flat sclerites (Fig. 5E).

5 with axe-shaped sclerite.

6. with hook-shaped sclerite.

char. 91. Base of endophallus, spiculate sacule (char. 2 in Askevold et al. 1994).

0. absent.

1. with sacule containing elongate, curved spicules forming dark, somewhat paired mass (Fig. 6A).

2. with sacule containing elongate, curved spicules uniformly arranged.

char. 92. Median setal brush behind orifice of penis body.

0. absent.

1. situated at base of subapical sclerites (Fig. 7A).

2. situated on anterior surface of dorsal process (for dorsal process see char. 93) (Figs 7E, 7G-I, 8B-C).

3. situated on ventral surface of dorsal process (for dorsal process see char. 93).

char. 93. Post-orificial area of penis body ("dorsal process") (char. 14 in Askevold et al. 1994).

0. absent.

1. with immovable sclerotized process arising from and attached to each postero-lateral angle of orifice (Figs 7D–G, 8B–D).

char. 94. If char. 93=1, dorsal process, apex.

- 0. not directed basad.
- 1. directed basad.

char. 95. If char. 93=1, dorsal process in lateral view.

- 0. without sclerotized subtriangular plate behind dorsal process.
- 1. with sclerotized subtriangular plate behind dorsal process.
- char. 96. If char. 93=1, dorsal process laterally.
 - 0. not semicircular.
 - 1. semicircular, with anterior concavity (Figs 7E, 8B, 8D).
- char. 97. If char. 93=1, penis body (char. 44 in Askevold et al. 1994, modified).
 - 0. widest just after dorsal process.
 - 1. widest in front of dorsal process (Figs 7F, 7I, 8B–D).
- char. 98. If char. 93=1, dorsal process, direction.
 - 0. directed more or less vertically (Fig. 7G).
 - 1. almost horizontal, directed apicad (Fig. 8D).
- char. 99. If char. 93=1, dorsal surface of penis body, behind dorsal process (char. 15 in Askevold *et al.* 1994). 0. convex.
 - 1. with broad depression (Fig. 8D).
- char. 100. If char. 93=1, inner surface of dorsal process (char. 17 in Askevold et al. 1994).
 - 0. lacking denticles (Fig. 7E).
 - 1. covered with dense area of denticles (Fig. 7F, 8C detail).
- char. 101. If char. 93=1, dorsal process.
 - 0. without lateral wings.
 - 1. with lateral wings (Fig. 8B).
- char. 102. If char. 93=1, lateral margin of penis body at base of dorsal process (char. 19 in Askevold *et al.* 1994). 0. simple.
 - 1. with subapical lateral incision (Fig. 7G).
- char. 103. If char. 93=1, lateral margin of penis body behind dorsal process.
 - 0. moderately rounded.
 - 1. acute (Fig. 7E).
- char. 104. If char. 93=1, sides of penis body behind dorsal process.
 - 0. rectilinear to slightly curvilinear.
 - 1. distinctly swollen.
- char. 105. If char. 93=1, sublateral margin of penis body behind dorsal process (char. 20 in Askevold *et al.* 1994, modified).
 - 0. without denticles.
 - 1. denticulate (Fig. 8C).
- char. 106. If char. 93=1, sublateral margin of penis body behind dorsal process (char. 20 in Askevold *et al.* 1994, modified).
 - 0. dorsally uniformly rounded behind dorsal process.
 - 1. with dorsal, sublateral, carinate ridge bordering median depression behind dorsal process (Fig. 7I).
 - 2. with dorsal, sublateral, carinate, V-shaped ridge bordering median depression behind dorsal process (Fig. 8C).
- char. 107. If char. 93=1, shape of penis body immediately proximad of dorsal process.

0. more or less parallel-sided at midlength (Fig. 7E).

1. markedly constricted immediately proximad of dorsal process (Fig. 7F).

char. 108. If char. 93=1, lateral margin of penis body behind dorsal process.

0. rounded.

1. markedly carinate behind dorsal process, surface ventral to carina markedly excavate, dorsal surface mesad of carina markedly depressed.

char. 109. If char. 93=1, dorsal surface of penis body, medially, behind dorsal process.

0. more or less uniformly convex.

1. more or less markedly raised, forming acute, longitudinal, median carina.

char. 110. Penis apodemes, length.

0. long, slender, usually at least one-half as long as penis body (Figs 5A-H, 6A).

1. short, at most one-third as long as penis body (Figs 6B-C, 6F-G, 8B-C).

2. extremely short, almost obliterated.

char. 111. Tegmen, parameroid lobes.

0. distinct.

1. very short.

2. absent.

FEMALE GENITAL CHARACTERS

char. 112. Arms of spiculum ventrale, direction (char. 61 in Askevold et al. 1994).

0. with inner margins divergent or subparallel to apex.

1. with inner margins strongly convergent, joined at ca. midlength.

char. 113. Arms of spiculum ventrale, apical setae.

0. short (Figs 8E–F).

1. long (Fig. 8H).

char. 114. Apodemes of spiculum ventrale, shape.

0. parallel, subparallel or contiguous for most of length (Y-shaped) (Fig. 8E, 8H).

1. very broadly and arcuately divergent from base (U-shaped) (Fig. 8G).

2. fully bifurcated, arising laterally on plate of sternite (Fig. 8F).

char. 115. Insertion of spermathecal gland.

0. attached on ramus at apex of body, generally with ramus protruding slightly past body.

1. attached on body, anteapically.

char. 116. Bursa, sclerites.

0. absent.

1. present (Fig. 8I).

char. 117. Gonocoxite, stylus.

0. present, distinct (Fig. 8K).

1. absent (Fig. 8J).

char. 118. Gonocoxite.

0. rectilinear.

1. sinuate.

char. 119. Gonocoxite.

0. at most with a few setae (Fig 8K).

1. densely setose (Fig. 8J).



FIGURE 1. Rostrum in lateral view of (A) *Hydronomus alismatis*; (B) *Memptorrhynchus crispus*; (C) *Bagous (Parabagous) guttatus*; (D) *Bagous (Hydronoplus) longulus*. Rostrum in dorsal view of (E) *Hydronomus alismatis*; (F) *Memptorrhynchus crispus*; (G) *Bagous (Hydronoplus) longulus*; (H) *Bagous (Macropelmus) tubulus*. Not at the same scale. Scale references are not reported in this and following figures since the illustrations are only meant to show the characters used for the phylogenetic inference.



FIGURE 2. Pronotum of (A) Bagous (Macropelmus) setosus; (B) Bagous (Macropelmus) argillaceus; (C) Bagous (Bagous) binodulus. Antenna of (D) Bagous (Parabagous) guttatus; (E) Bagous (Macropelmus) geniculatus. Fore tarsus of (F) Bagous (Parabagous) guttatus; (G) Bagous (Macropelmus) trapae. Detail of elytra of (H) Bagous (Macropelmus) limosus. Not at the same scale.



FIGURE 3. Prosternum of (A) Hydronomus alismatis; (B) Memptorrhynchus crispus: (C) Bagous (Hydronoplus) longulus; (D) Bagous (Macropelmus) geniculatus. Elytra of (E) Bagous (Macropelmus) tubulus; (F) Bagous (Macropelmus) elegans; (G) Bagous (Macropelmus) trapae. Anterior leg of (H) Memptorrhynchus crispus; (I) Bagous (Macropelmus) fragosus; (J) Bagous (Macropelmus) trapae. Not at the same scale.



FIGURE 4. Habitus of *Azollaebagous clarencensis*, in (A) dorsal and (B) lateral view; *Bagous (Hydrillaebagous) hydrillae*, in (C) dorsal and (D) lateral view. Venter of (E) *Bagous (Bagous) binodulus*; (F) *Memptorrhynchus crispus*. Detail of ventrite 1 after removal of scales of (G) *Bagous (Macropelmus) affaber*; (H) *Bagous (Macropelmus) collignensis*. Not at the same scale.



FIGURE 5. Penis in dorsal view of (A) *Hydronomus alismatis*; (B) *Memptorrhynchus brevipennis*; (C) *Bagous (Parabagous) costulatus*; (D) *Bagous (Parabagous) longirostris*; (E) *Bagous (Bagous) binodulus*; (F) *Bagous (Bagous) robustus*; (G) *Azollaebagous clarencensis*; (H) *Bagous (Bagous) josephi*. Not at the same scale.



FIGURE 6. Penis in dorsal and lateral view of (A) Bagous (Hydrillaebagous) hydrillae; (B) Bagous (Macropelmus) tempestivus; (C and D) Bagous (Macropelmus) affaber; (E) Bagous (Macropelmus) lutosus; (F) Bagous (Macropelmus) exilis; (G) Bagous (Macropelmus) cylindricus; (H) Bagous (Macropelmus) dieckmanni; (I) Bagous (Macropelmus) peregrinus. Not at the same scale.



FIGURE 7. Penis in dorsal and lateral view of (A) Bagous (Macropelmus) geniculatus; (B) Bagous (Macropelmus) humeridens; (C) Bagous (Macropelmus) tuberculatus; (D) Bagous (Macropelmus) nodulosus; (E) Bagous (Macropelmus) collignensis; (F and G) Bagous (Macropelmus) limosus; (H) Bagous (Macropelmus) humeralis; (I) Bagous (Macropelmus) adelaidae. Not at the same scale.



FIGURE 8. Penis in dorsal and lateral view of (A) *Bagous (Macropelmus) subruber;* (B) *Bagous (Macropelmus) brevis;* (C) *Bagous (Macropelmus) frit,* with detail of the small teeth; (D) *Bagous (Macropelmus) trapae.* Spiculum ventrale of (E) *Bagous (Bagous) quadrimaculatus;* (F) *Memptorrhynchus brevipennis;* (G) *Bagous (Parabagous) chevrolati;* (H) *Bagous (Macropelmus) elegans.* Sclerites of bursa copulatrix of (I) *Bagous (Parabagous) chevrolati.* Gonocoxa of (I) *Bagous (Bagous) nympheae;* (J) *Bagous (Macropelmus) laevigatus.* Not at the same scale.

Results

Morphological analysis (Figs 9–10). The topologies found with BI, ML and MP (Figs 9, 10) were congruent for the clades with higher statistical support. In cases of non-congruence among the methods we gave preference to the BI, since it is considered to outperform parsimony (Wright & Hillis 2014).

All-species analysis (Fig. 9). The tribe Bagoini proved to be monophyletic, with high support (maximal support in BI, 94% bs in ML and 95% sr in MP, Bremer support 4). Within this clade, *Hydronomus alismatis* was sister to the other species of the tribe. These clustered in three monophyletic groups, here considered at genus rank: *Memptorrhynchus* Iablokoff-Khnzorian, 1960 (*M. crispus* and *M. brevipennis*), *Azollaebagous* new genus, described herein (*A. contrarius* and *A. pygmaeodes*) and *Bagous*. The first two taxa had maximal or very strong support in all analyses, whereas *Bagous* had almost maximal support only in BI, but was only weakly supported in ML and MP (respectively, 65% bs and 63% sr, Bremer support 1). Within *Bagous*, some clades had good statistical support: *Bagous* subgen. *Hydronoplus* was fully supported in all analyses; *Bagous* subg. *Parabagous* was fully supported in BI and strongly supported in ML and MP (96% bs and sr, Bremer support 4); *Bagous* subg. *Hydrillaebagous* new subgenus, described herein, was almost fully supported in BI (99% pp), and weakly supported in ML (73% bs) and MP (63% sr, Bremer support 2); several other species clustered in a monophyletic group, *Bagous* subg. *Macropelmus*, that had 62% pp in BI, and was present, albeit lacking significant statistical support, also in ML and MP. The remaining species fell in a polytomy. Among these last species is also *B. binodulus*, the type species of the genus. For practical reasons, we include all these species in *Bagous* subgenus *Bagous*, being well aware that this might not be a natural taxon.

Type-species analyses (Fig. 10). Results were very similar, with some differences in the support values. In particular, the genus *Bagous* had stronger support (BI: 99% pp, ML: 78% bs, MP= 72% sr, Bremer support 3), as well as *Bagous* subgenus *Macropelmus* (BI: 97% pp, ML: 84% bs, MP: 61% sr), whereas the genus *Hydronomus* as sister to all the other genera was not statistically supported (BI: 50% pp, lower than 50% bs and sr in, respectively, ML and MP).

Mitochondrial cytochrome oxidase I analysis (Fig. 12). The species of Bagoini of which mtCOI was available were all part of the genus Bagous as defined by the morphological analysis. Two monophyletic units were defined, that are congruent with two of the clades recognized by the morphological analysis (species of the otherclades were not available for the molecular study). One of these was strongly supported (97% pp) and included species that are part of the subgenus Macropelmus. The second clade, corresponding to the subgenus Bagous s. str., was weakly supported also in the mtCOI analysis (with the same support as found in the morphological all-species analysis, 62% pp). Within these two clades, some monophyletic units were differentiated. In the subgenus Macropelmus, one of these included B. limosus, B. frit, B. collignensis and B. longitarsis, with almost maximal support. The first two species, "basal" to the sister group comprising B. collignensis and B. longitarsis, clustered together also in the morphological analysis, in a weakly supported clade (69% pp). A second monophylum, with a moderate support (81% pp) incorporates B. tempestivus, B. monanthiphagus and B. exilis. Two more units were evidenced, one, weakly supported, joined B nodulosus with B. argillaceus and B. elegans, whereas B. petro resulted in a single unit. Relationships among these four monophyletic units were not statistically supported. Within the Bagous s. str. clade, two monophyletic units were distinguished. One of these, maximally supported, included B. binodulus, B. lutulentus, B. robustus and B. glabrirostris. The second unit, only weakly supported (60% pp), included B. subcarinatus and B. bagdatensis.

Even though a wider set of species would be required, and the study was exclusively carried out on a single mitochondrial gene, the congruence of the resulting topologies for the available species between morphology and mtCOI sequences suggests that the signals that build the trees are strong and unequivocal, and we are thus confident of the credibility of the suggested relationships among the taxa of the tribe Bagoini.

Discussion

The aim of this study was to infer phylogenetic relationships within the Bagoini. Apparent relationships among the other Curculionoidea, as indicated by the topology of the trees, shall not be considered as suggestive of any true relationship, and will not be discussed here.



FIGURE 9. Morphological analysis—all species. Bayesian consensus tree (50% majority rule). Numbers above branches: support values, in percentage, in the following order: posterior probability (BI) / bootstrap value (ML) / symmetric resampling (MP); 'ns' means that the group was present, but its support was < 50%; 'np' means that the group was not present. Number below branches: Bremer support in the MP analysis. Scale bar unit: expected changes of state per character. MP analysis: length 261, consistency index = 0.61, retention index = 0.83. Outgroup taxa not reported to increase readability of the Bagoini clade.



FIGURE 10. Morphological analysis—type species only. Bayesian consensus tree (50% majority rule). Taxa in **bold** font: valid taxa recognized in the present work; larger font: genera, smaller font: subgenera. Taxa in regular font: synonyms in the present work. Numbers above branches: support values, in percentage, in the following order: posterior probability (BI) / bootstrap value (ML) / symmetric resampling (MP); 'ns' means that the group was present, but its support was < 50%; 'np' means that the group was not present. Number below branches: Bremer support in the MP analysis. Scale bar unit: expected changes of state per character. MP analysis: length 146, consistency index = 0.70, retention index = 0.78.



FIGURE 11a–b. Morphological analysis. Synapomorphies and autapomorphies plotted on the Bayesian consensus tree. Numbers above branches refer to the character, numbers below branches refer to the state of the character. Red dots: synapomorphies unique for the clade. Blue dots: autapomorphies unique for the species. Black dots: synapomorphies and autapomorphies not unique for the clade or species. White dots: reversals. Outgroup taxa not reported to increase readability of the Bagoini clade.





Morphological characters. Among the character states included in 119 characters here considered, almost 100 were uniquely present in a single clade (Figs 11a, b). Several parallel character states were present, but, as indicated by the high retention index, in many cases they were synapomorphic for species in different clades.

The Bagoini classification. In the phylogenetic analyses based on the morphological matrix (Table 1) the Bagoini are here assembled in four genera: *Hydronomus*, *Memptorrhynchus*, *Azollaebagous* new genus and *Bagous*. Inside the genus *Bagous*, five subgenera are recognized: *Bagous*, *Parabagous*, *Macropelmus*, *Hydronoplus* and *Hydrillaebagous* new subgenus.

The genus *Bagous*. The genus *Bagous* is recognized as being composed of five subgenera, morphologically mainly differentiated by characters of the male genitalia. Four of these subgenera correspond to more or less strongly supported clades, whereas the nominal subgenus appears to be an assemblage of the species that are not part of the four supported subgenera. A further analysis exclusively dealing with the species in the subgenus *Bagous*, based on a wider availability of molecular data, and on morphological characters specifically chosen to evaluate similarities and differences among these species, might allow us to achieve a more complete view of their reciprocal affinities. The subgenus *Macropelmus* is the largest subgenus and includes all the species sharing the shortening of the penis apodemes. Support for its monophyly in the all-species analysis is quite low due to a number of parallel character states present in some of the species that are shared with species of other subgenus to be a natural group. This is confirmed by the higher support that is obtained in the type-species analysis (Fig. 12). In the molecular analysis, the species characterized by the shortening of the penis body apodemes also clustered in a distinct clade. According to our reconstruction (Fig. 9), all the species having a dorsal process on the penis body form a monophyletic clade. The presence of a more or less complex tuft of setae arranged medially at the base of the sclerites or the dorsal process is another character that is typical of many of the species of this subgenus.

Species-groups. Within some of the subgenera, we defined species groups. In some cases, these groups correspond to a phylogenetic clade, in other cases holophyly is uncertain or not supported and the groups may be paraphyletic or correspond to an evolutionary grade. However, the informal category represented by species-groups has been used consistently for decades in the classification of Bagoini (O'Brien & Askevold 1992, Askevold *et al.* 1994, Caldara & O'Brien 1998). Even though it has no nomenclatural significance, it is useful for an easier recognition of morphologically similar species, and these are the reasons why we decided to maintain its usage.

Almost all species-groups previously proposed were maintained, a few had to be upgraded to the rank of subgenus or genus, others were lumped together in a single group, a few more were created for species that formed a supported clade.



FIGURE 12. Mitochondrial cytochrome oxidase I analysis. Bayesian consensus tree (50% majority rule). Codes after the species name are GenBank Accession Numbers. Scale bar unit: expected substitutions per site.

The large number of groups inside *Macropelmus*, some of which are monospecific, accommodates species sharing a particular shape of the sclerites and the presence of sclerotized structures or carinae and sulci along the body of the penis. Some of these species-groups are so well differentiated that previously they had even been recognized as distinct genera.

The addition to the analyses of 74 species from Afrotropical, Oriental and North American faunas increased only marginally the number of species groups, since most species were easily attributed to already recognized groups. However, this was not always possible since we preferred to maintain a certain uniformity of evaluation. A few new groups were therefore created here: the *B. fractodes*, *B. americanus*, *B. humeralis*, and *B. descarpentriesi* groups, which are composed of only one or two species.

Recently Gosik (2013) proposed a phylogenetic tree of 14 Palaearctic Bagoini using character states of preimmaginal stages. Although based on very few species, the topology of the tree proposed by Gosik (2013) confirms *Bagous alismatis* (*Hydronomus alismatis* in the present paper) as the sister taxon to all other Bagoini. Some of the relationships which we found by using the adult characters, such as that between *B. tubulus* and *B. elegans*, are also confirmed.

We hope we have succeded in setting down herein a basic knowledge of the phylogenetic relationships among the taxa that compose the tribe of the Bagoini. The analysis of more species, including some yet undescribed, and the availability of the mtCOI sequences for a broader number of species will contribute to clarifying some of the presently uncertain points and possibly will allow us to derive stronger support for some of the weaker nodes, and increase congruence among the various analyses.

Taxonomy

Tribe Bagoini

Type genus: Bagous Germar, 1817

Diagnosis. Most scales of both dorsal and ventral vestiture granulate, moderately to distinctly pitted, not hydrofuge except at point of articulation, usually with waterproof coating. Rostrum with lateral and dorsal apical setae numerous (except Hydronomus). Scrobe in lateral view completely visible, parallel to length of rostrum (char. 16.1). Insertion of antennal scape usually laterodorsal (except B. tubulus group, B. rotundicollis, B. fastosus) (char. 18.1). Segment 7 of antennal funicle wider than segment 6 (except Bagous subgen. Parabagous and B. biimpressus group). Rostrum with suprascrobal sulcus, more or less distinct (char. 10.1). Forehead between eyes usually sulcate or foveate (except Hydronomus, Memptorrhynchus and a few other unrelated species). Postocular lobe ventrally distinct, somewhat to markedly raised, forming discontinuity with anterior prosternal margin and with anterior point of lateral margin of rostral canal (except Hydronomus, Memptorrhynchus, Azollaebagous, and B. geniculatus and related species). Prosternal canal weak to deep, rarely absent (in *Hydronomus* and *B. geniculatus* and related species). Side margins of prosternum usually sharply raised, markedly rounded or acute just in front of coxae (except Memptorrhynchus, Azollaebagous). Tibiae with outer margin distally slightly to strongly arcuate (char. 48.1) (except Memptorrhynchus and Bagous subgen. Parabagous). Tarsomere 3 not completely bilobed, at most broadly cordate to subcordate, often sublinear to elongate-linear. Tarsomere 3 clothed beneath with fine to coarse, dense, recumbent to subrecumbent pubescence (char. 53.1). Ventrite 5 with a shallow median impression (char. 44.1) and with a lateral pit with 1-4 pairs of setae (char. 46.1). Aedeagus of pedal type (without tectum) (char. 56.1), with dorsal surface of penis body usually fully sclerotised except in orificial area, usually with numerous basal or apical more or less complex sclerites. Laminar orificial lateral sclerites present although sometimes only distinguishable at apical portion (char. 74.1) (modified in most species with dorsal process). Penis with long to very short apodemes.

Remarks. The species belonging to this tribe share seven synapomorphies (char. 10.1, 16.1, 18.1, 48.1, 53.1, 56.1, 74.1). According to Oberprieler (2014) the Bagoini seem to have relationships with both the tribes Erirhinini, in particular the *Echinocnemus* assemblage *sensu* Oberprieler, and Tanysphyrini. The Bagoini and *Lissorhoptrus* + *Picia* + *Tanysphyrus* share the vestiture of the body formed at least in part by more or less pitted scales (char. 2.1), ventrite 5 with a median impression (char. 44.1) and with a lateral pit with 1–4 pairs of setae (char. 46.1), whereas Bagoini and *Lissorhoptrus* + *Picia* share the tarsomere 2 longer than wide (char. 51.0) and tarsomere 3 not bilobed (char. 52.1). However, these two last characters appear clearly adaptive and therefore possibly misleading.

Genus Hydronomus Schoenherr, 1825 resurrected name

Hydronomus Schoenherr, 1825: c.583 (type species: Curculio alismatis Marsham, 1802). Tournier 1874: 103. Schilsky 1907:
D. Sharp 1917a: 31. Solari 1930: 46. Hustache 1930: 236. Klima 1934: 127. Hoffmann 1954: 711, 713. Dieckmann 1983: 351, 373. Caldara & O'Brien 1998: 137. Alonso-Zarazaga & Lyal 1999: 88. Caldara 2013: 172.

Diagnosis. Scales subgranulate to granulate, moderately pitted except for ventrites 3–5 (char. 2.1). Rostrum with very few lateral and dorsal apical setae (char. 11.0). Scrobe not reaching eye (char. 17.1) and squamose (char. 14.1). Forehead between eyes not sulcate nor foveate (char. 24.0). Postocular lobe ventrally indistinct, not raised, not forming discontinuity with anterior prosternal margin (char. 30.0). Prosternal canal absent (char. 31.0). Elytra lacking declivital calli (char. 36.0). Tibiae arcuate at apical outer margin (char. 48.1); inner margin of tibiae lacking denticles. Penis with long apodemes (char. 110.0). Endophallus with basal sclerite complex formed by overlapped plates (char. 90.3).

Remarks. In the all-species analysis the genus is sister to all the other Bagoini with a strong support in BI (91% pp), and a lower support in ML and MP (respectively, 76% bs and 57% sr). In the type-species analysis the genus was not supported as sister to the remaining taxa of the tribe (BI: 50% pp, ML and MP lower than 50%). This incongruence was probably determined by the fact that *Hydronomus* is monotypic, whereas the other genera have a large number of species, sharing the character states differentiating them from *Hydronomus*. In the all-species analysis this resulted in a much stronger support for the clade encompassing the other genera of the tribe. *Hydronomus* shares with the other Bagoini several characters, such as the pitted scales, shape of the body, legs, and male and female genitalia. It differs from them by the absence of a prosternal canal and of pitted scales on some ventrites. Four unequivocal character states characterize *Hydronomus* (char. 11.0, 14.1, 17.1, 90.3) in respect to the other Bagoini: scrobe not reaching eyes and squamose (an apparently plesiomorphic state), rostrum with very few lateral and dorsal apical setae, endophallus with basal sclerite complex formed by overlapped plates.

This genus is presently composed only of the type species. However, we have an undescribed Chinese taxon belonging to this genus and differing from *H. alismatis* by the shape of the body of the penis and the basal sclerites. Species included. **PAL:** **Hydronomus alismatis* (Marsham, 1802).

Genus Memptorrhynchus Iablokoff-Khnzorian, 1960 resurrected name

Memptorrhynchus Iablokoff-Khnzorian, 1960: 253 [type species: *Memptorrhynchus ripicola* Iablokoff-Khnzorian, 1960 (= *Bagous brevipennis* Kirsch, 1878)]. Caldara & O'Brien 1998: 137. Alonso-Zarazaga & Lyal 1999: 88. Caldara 2013: 172.

Diagnosis. Body broad-oval and robust. Rostrum unusually flattened at apex (char. 8.1), with lateral plica (char. 9.1); curvature of ventral margin in lateral view strong (char. 7.1), at basal 2/3 with row of sparse, regularly spaced setae along lateral margin close to ventral margin (char. 13.1). Forehead between eyes not sulcate nor foveate (char. 24.0). Pronotal disc moderately to strongly transversely convex. Postocular lobe ventrally indistinct, not raised, not forming discontinuity with anterior prosternal margin (char. 30.0). Prosternal canal weak (char. 31.0). Side margins of prosternum not clearly raised (char. 33.0). Elytra with setae on odd-numbered intervals surrounded by rosette of scales of same color; declivital callus absent (char. 36.0). Outer margin of tibiae, especially on hind tibiae, straight or nearly so toward apex (in lateral view) (char. 48.0); tibiae denticulate along inner margin, sometimes with denticles stouter and more numerous on midtibiae; tarsi short, tarsomere 3 cordate. Penis with long apodemes (char. 110.0). Endophallus with basal sclerite complex formed by elongate curved sclerites (char. 90.2). Apodemes of spiculum ventrale fully bifurcated, arising laterally on plate of sternite, apparently forming two straight rods with arms (char. 114.2).

Remarks. Monophyly of the species referred to this genus was supported in all analyses.

Memptorrhynchus is characterized by the poorly developed, barely distinguishable prosternal canal, the tibiae almost straight to apex along the outer margin, the tarsi short with tarsomere 3 broadly cordate, and the male genitalia which present certain similarities with those of *Hydronomus* (*i.e.*, the features of the sclerite complex at the base of the endophallus). This is a homogeneous group and its species show six synapomorphies (char. 7.1, 8.1, 9.1, 13.1, 90.2, 114.2) in nongenital characters (rostrum strongly curved and with flat apex with lateral carinae, and with row of lateral setae) as well as genital morphology (shape of the penis and especially of the spiculum ventrale

with apodemes strongly divergent and arising laterally on plate). The bulk of this group is present in the Afrotropical region with three extralimital species (two Indian and one Palaearctic).

Species included: **AFR:** ¹*Memptorrhynchus bergensis* (Marshall, 1953) **n. comb.**, ¹*M. crassus* (Hoffmann, 1968) **n. comb.**, ^{*1}*M. crispus* (Faust, 1899) **n. comb.**, ¹*M. gaillardi* (Hustache, 1936) **n. comb.**, ¹*M. polysignatus* (Hoffmann, 1968) **n. comb.**, ¹*M. vafer* (Marshall, 1958) **n. comb.**; **ORR:** ¹*M. luteitarsis* (Hustache, 1926) **n. comb.**, ¹*M. ovoideus* (Hustache, 1926) **n. comb.**; **PAL:** ^{*2}*M. brevipennis* (Kirsch, 1878) **n. comb.**

Genus Azollaebagous gen. n.

(Figs 4A-B, 5G)

Type species: *Bagous clarencensis* Blackburn, 1894. Gender: masculine.

Diagnosis. Body very small in size, 2.0 mm or less in length (rostrum excluded) (char. 1.1). Postocular lobe ventrally indistinct, not raised, not forming discontinuity with anterior prosternal margin (char. 30.0). Prosternal canal weak (char. 31.1). Side margins of prosternum barely raised (char. 33.1). Elytra subquadrate (char. 34.1), with posterior declivity in lateral view strong at 75 degrees (char. 37.1); declivital callus absent (char. 36.0); scales of elytral intervals arranged in regular pairs (char. 41.1); vestiture with a semicircular white stripe at posterior third (char. 40.1). Tibiae with slightly arcuate apices (char. 48.1). Penis with long apodemes (char. 110.0) and with endophallus generally lacking sclerites.

Description. Body short and broad-oval, very small in size, 2.0 mm or less in length (rostrum excluded), densely clothed with hydrofuge pitted scales. Rostrum in female usually distinctly longer than in male. Antennae with 7-segmented funicle, usually inserted at midlength. Forehead between eyes foveate. Pronotum moderately transverse, with sides weakly rounded, disc moderately to strongly transversely convex. Postocular lobe ventrally indistinct, not raised, not forming discontinuity with anterior prosternal margin. Prosternal canal weak, with side margins weak. Elytra slightly longer than wide, with humeri subquadrately rounded, with parallel sides, posterior declivity in lateral view strong at 75 degrees, lacking callosities; scales of elytral intervals arranged in regular pairs, side by side, each interval with two individually distinct rows of round scales; vestiture with a semicircular white stripe at posterior third. Tibiae with slightly arcuate apices, lacking distinct denticles and with setae very short and indistinct; tarsi short, with tarsomere 3 broad and slightly cordate, clothed beneath with fine, dense, recumbent pubescence. Penis with long apodemes and with endophallus generally lacking sclerites. Apodemes of spiculum ventrale straight, long, parallel.

Remarks. This genus is associated with *Azolla* and easily identified by five apomorphies (char. 1.1, 34.1, 37.1, 40.1, 41.1), all in nongenital characters: body very small in size, elytra subquadrate with posterior declivity strong and with a semicircular stripe of white scales at posterior third, elytral interstriae covered with two regular rows of scales (homoplastic with other species of *Bagous*). *Azollaebagous* was maximally supported in BI and ML and strongly supported in MP (97% sr, Bremer support 3). This genus shares with *Memptorrhynchus* the almost indistinct prosternal canal and the tarsi short, with broad cordate tarsomere 3.

Etymology. The name is composed by the joining of the name *Azolla* to the name *Bagous* highlighting that all the species of this new genus appear to live on *Azolla*, a genus of the water fern plant family Azollaceae.

Species included. AUS: *1*Azollaebagous clarenciensis* (Blackburn, 1894) n. comb.; ORR: ²A. alexanderi (O'Brien, 1995) n. comb., ¹A. contrarius (O'Brien, 1995) n. comb., ¹A. pygmaeus (Voss, 1960) n. comb.; PAL: *²A. pygmaeodes (O'Brien & Morimoto, 1995) n. comb.

Genus Bagous Germar, 1817

Diagnosis. Forehead between eyes sulcate or foveate (char. 24.1); postocular lobes well-developed (char. 30.1); prosternum with deep rostral canal (char. 31.2) and with postero-lateral margins of rostral canal sharply raised (char. 33.2) (except for the *B. biimpressus* group of the subgen. *Macropelmus*); elytral interval 5 usually with declivital callus obtuse to acute, poorly to well-developed (char. 36.1, absent in subgenus *Parabagous* and in *B. exilis, B. frivaldszkyi* and *B. tubulus*). Tarsomere 3 cordate to linear; penis body ventrally membranous to fully

sclerotized, usually with numerous basal or apical, more or less complex sclerites, with long to very short apodemes.

Remarks. In the all-species analysis the genus was almost maximally supported in BI (99% pp) but only weakly supported in ML (65% bs) and MP (63 % sr, Bremer support 1); in the type-species analysis its support in ML and MP was stronger (respectively, 78% bs and 72% sr, Bremer support 3).

Infrageneric classification of the genus *Bagous* is controversial. As already discussed, three large complexes of species are maximally, or nearly maximally supported: subgenera *Parabagous, Hydronoplus* and *Hydrillaebagous* **new subgenus**. The subgenus *Macropelmus* represents a further clade that includes a very large number of species sharing the shortening of the penis apodemes,. All other species, including *B. binodulus*, the type species of the genus, fall in a polytomy. The species available for the molecular analysis clustered in clades that match their placement in the topology of the BI reconstruction based on the morphological analysis. The type-species analysis produced the same pattern but with a further group (including *Himaniphades* and *Abagous*) that was not present in ML and had only low support. In accordance with the all-species analysis, we refer it to the subgenus *Bagous* as a species-group (*B. bipunctatus* group).

Subgenus Bagous Germar, 1817

Bagous Germar, 1817, Germar, 1817: 340 (type species: *Rhynchaenus binodulus* Gyllenhal, 1813). Brisout de Barneville 1863: 491. Tournier 1874: 103. Schilsky 1907: D. Hustache 1930: 205. Neresheimer & Wagner 1930: 261. Klima 1934: 110. Hoffmann 1954: 712, 714. Dieckmann 1964: 88; 1983: 352. O'Brien & Wibmer 1982: 92. O'Brien & Askevold 1992: 338; 1995: 12. O'Brien *et al.* 1994: 8. Caldara & O'Brien 1998: 137. Alonso-Zarazaga & Lyal 1999: 88. Caldara 2013: 172.

Abagous Sharp, 1917a: 27 (type species: *Rhynchaenus lutulentus* Gyllenhal, 1813). Hoffmann 1954: 717, 740 (subgen. of *Bagous*). Dieckmann 1983: 354, 369 (subgen. of *Bagous*). Caldara 2013: 172.

Himeniphades Kôno, 1934: 245 (type species: Himeniphades bipunctatus Kôno, 1934). Caldara 2013: 172.

Diagnosis. Penis body usually widest at base, thence slightly tapered at least in basal 2/3, sometimes with short, ventrobasal plate extending between apodemes (char. 70.1 and 70.2) and with endophallus within tube of penis body with a pair of lateral concentrations of numerous fine denticles or sparse large denticles (char. 87.1 and 87.2). Penis apodemes long (char. 110.0).

Remarks. This subgenus includes all the species that are not part of the other subgenera. Some of the species of this subgenus can be referred to some well characterized species-groups, while the remaining species are morphologically quite heterogeneous, sharing only a single genital character.

Seven species belonging to the subgenus *Bagous* were available for the mtCOI analysis, and they clustered in a different clade from the species belonging to subgenus *Macropelmus*, with weak support (62% pp). Within this clade, two monophyletic groups were distinguished, that match only in part the composition of the morphological species groups.

1. Bagous josephi group

Diagnosis. Prosternal canal weak (char. 31.1). Sclerotization of ventral surface of penis body broadly membranous. Sclerotized area of dorsal surface of penis body greatly reduced and present only as a narrow basal bridge (char. 63.1). Endophallus lacking sclerites.

Remarks. Monospecific. Some characters of the penis, such as the almost completely membranous dorsal surface of the body and the complete absence of sclerites in the endophallus, are uncommon in the Bagoini.

Species included. AUS: *Bagous josephi O'Brien, 1992.

2. Bagous compertus group

Diagnosis. Body elongate-cylindrical. Pronotum 0.90x or more as long as broad (char. 26.1); with more or less distinctly carinate basal margin across middle one-fourth to one-half. Sclerite complex within tube of penis body with pair of submedian, subapical sclerites well separated (char. 84.3). Submedian sclerites subtriangular with point at base (char. 86.1). Ventral surface of penis body broadly membranous.

Remarks. The species of this group are characterized by a long series of external and genital characters, shared with other not closely related or completely unrelated groups, except for one of them (char. 84.3) unique for this group. *B. pyrrhocnemus* and *B. pyrrhocnemodes* differ from the other species of the group by the ventrobasal margin of the penis body with short, ventrobasal plate extending between apodemes and forming an acute median point, visible from above (char. 70.2), This structure is shared with *B. binodulus*, to which the BI analysis suggests a relationship (49% pp). This group is weakly supported in BI (72% pp) and ML (55% bs). It is presently composed of five Indian species, extensively treated and keyed by O'Brien & Askevold (1995).

Species included. **ORR:** *1Bagous compertus Faust, 1888, ¹B. limnophilae O'Brien, 1995, ¹B. nigrinus O'Brien, 1995, ²B. pyrrhocnemodes O'Brien, 1995, *2B. pyrrhocnemus O'Brien, 1995.

3. Bagous binodulus group

Diagnosis. Upper margin of eye at a level slightly higher than the forehead (char. 25.1). Glabrous, smooth and shining area over eyes and at base of interval 1 (char. 35.1). Basal portion of pronotum broadly covered with plumose scales (char. 29.1). Basal margin of elytra slightly to markedly costate from scutellum to, or almost to, humerus. Ventrite 5 with median impression with carinate margin (char. 44.2) bearing a row of long setae (char. 45.1). Ventrobasal margin of penis body with short, ventrobasal plate extending between apodemes and forming an acute median point, visible from above (char. 70.2). Sclerite complex within tube of penis body with a pair of submedian, subapical well-separated sclerites (char. 84.1). Submedian sclerites subtriangular with a point at base (char. 86.1). Basal sclerite complex of two pairs of flat sclerites (char. 90.4).

Remarks. This group is composed of a single Palaearctic species, *i.e.*, the type species of the genus *Bagous*, which bears several striking nongenital as well as genital autapomorphic characters unique in the Bagoini. The penis shares certain general features with those of the species of the *B. bipunctatus* group. The presence of a basal plate of the penis body extending between apodemes is shared between the two groups, but a similar structure appears also in the subgenus *Hydronoplus*.

Species included. PAL: §* Bagous binodulus (Herbst, 1795).

4. Bagous quadrimaculatus group

Diagnosis. Pronotum with more or less distinctly carinate basal margin across middle one-fourth to one-half. Basal margin of elytra swollen, slightly to markedly costate from scutellum to, or almost to, humerus. Sclerotization of ventral surface of penis body broadly membranous. Endophallus lacking sclerites.

Remarks. This monospecific group includes a species from the Indian subcontinent well characterized by a series of homoplastic characters. Habitus and shape of the male genitalia seem more similar to those of the species of the *B. compertus* group.

Species included. ORR: *Bagous quadrimaculatus O'Brien, 1995.

5. Bagous bipunctatus group

Diagnosis. Tube of penis body with a pair of lateral concentrations of more or less numerous, fine to large, mostly acute denticles (char. 87.1). Ventrobasal margin of penis body with short, ventrobasal plate extending between apodemes, therefore visible from above (excluding *B. kagiashi* and *B. picturatus* from Japan) (char. 70.1).

Remarks. The species presently included in this large widespread group are defined by one distinctive character of the endophallus, which consists of a pair of regions with distinctly concentrated and usually minute (rarely large) denticles toward the apex. Otherwise the group is heterogeneous in external structure such as tarsal shape and tibial curvature and dentition. Among the species of the complex, the females of *B. bipunctatus* and *B. puncticollis* possess a bursa with sclerites more or less bilobed and convex (as in unrelated species like those of the *B. argillaceus* group) (char. 116.2). Monophyly of this group is suggested also by the phylogenetic analysis, its species being included in a clade, although not statistically supported (44% pp). It is distributed worldwide except for Australia.

Species included. **AFR:** ⁴Bagous coenosus Gyllenhal, 1836, ^{*3}B. fastosus Hartmann, 1904, ⁴B. madecassus Fairmaire, 1897, ⁴B. quadrinodulosus Hustache, 1932. **NAR:** ²B. californicus LeConte, 1876, ²B. chandleri Tanner, 1943, ²B. dietzi Tanner, 1954, ²B. floridanus Tanner, 1943, ⁵B. lunatoides O'Brien, 1979, ²B. lunatus Blatchley, 1916, ^{*10}B. mamillatus Say, 1831, ²B. obliquus LeConte, 1876, ²B. planatus LeConte, 1876, ²B. puritanus Blatchley, 1916, ²B. restrictus LeConte, 1876, ⁷B. tuberosus (Tanner, 1943). **ORR:** ^{*7}B. difficilis O'Brien, 1995, ^{*8}B. vicinus Hustache, 1926. **PAL:** ²B. amurensis Egorov & Gratshev, 1990, ^{§*4}B. bagdatensis Pic, 1904, ^{*1}B. bipunctatus (Kôno, 1934), ^{§2}B. glabrirostris (Herbst, 1795), ^{*9}B. kagiashi Chujo & Morimoto, 1959, ^{§2}B. lutulentus (Gyllenhal, 1813), ^{*6}B. occultus O'Brien, 1995, ²B. olcesei Tournier, 1874, ^{*5}B. picturatus Egorov & Gratshev, 1990, ¹B. puncticollis Boheman, 1845, ^{§*2}B. robustus Brisout de Barneville, 1863, ²B. spiculatus O'Brien & Morimoto, 1994, ^{§12}B. subcarinatus Gyllenhal, 1836, ²B. subcordatus O'Brien & Morimoto, 1994, ^{*11}B. yamazakii O'Brien & Morimoto, 1995.

6. Bagous parvus group

Diagnosis. Body very small, less (char. 1.1) or at most just longer than 2.0 mm. Penis body at least 4 times longer than wide (char. 57.0).

Remarks. The three species that we refer to this group were previously placed in the *B. pygmaeus* group (Askevold *et al.* 1994; O'Brien *et al.* 1994; O'Brien & Askevold 1995), but are now referred to the genus *Azollaebagous*. The differences from this genus are the strongly developed postocular lobes, the more pronounced prosteral canal, the more elongate elytra with less marked posterior declivity, and lack of curved whitish band at apical third of elytra. This group is weakly supported in BI (75% pp).

Species included. **ORR:** *1*B. joyi* O'Brien, 1995, *2*B. parvus* O'Brien, 1995. **PAL:** *3*B. minor* O'Brien & Morimoto, 1995.

7. Bagous deceptus group

Diagnosis. Body very small, at most just longer than 2.0 mm. Penis body with dorsal surface at base truncate (char. 64.1). Sclerites complex within tube of penis body with a pair of submedian, subapical sclerites well separated from each other (char. 84.1).

Remarks. The single species included in this group was previously included in the *B. pygmaeus* group (Askevold *et al.* 1994; O'Brien *et al.* 1994; O'Brien & Askevold 1995). It differs from all these species, however, by the shape of the penis and the presence of a pair of sclerites in the endophallus.

Species included. ORR: *B. deceptus O'Brien, 1995.

Subgenus Hydronoplus Fairmaire, 1898 stat. nov.

Hydronoplus Fairmaire, 1898: 243 (type species: Hydronoplus signatifrons Fairmaire, 1898). Klima 1934: 129. Alonso-Zarazaga & Lyal 1999: 88. Oberprieler et al. 2014: 456.

Pseudobagous Sharp, 1917a: 27 (type species: Bagous longulus Gyllenhal, 1836). Alonso-Zarazaga & Lyal 1999: 88. Oberprieler et al. 2014: 456; syn. n.

Diagnosis. Body elongate-cylindrical. Rostrum flattened at apex (char. 8.1) and with dorsal surface at point of antennal insertion distinctly angulate (char. 6.1). Scrobe in dorsal view visible for its entire length (char. 15.1). Forehead with tuberculate elevation along margin of eye. Pronotum 0.90x or more as long as broad (char. 26.1). Pronotum with more or less distinctly carinate basal margin across middle one-fourth to one-half. Basal margin of elytra swollen, slightly to markedly costate from scutellum to, or almost to, humerus. Penis body long (char. 57.0). Ventrobasal margin of penis body with short plate extending between apodemes, and therefore visible from above (char. 70.1). Penis body with subapical, ventral depression extending toward base and forming shallow to prominent sulcus (char. 72.1); with dorsolateral, longitudinal furrows, one on each side, forming an acute, raised

margin that extends from behind orifice to midlength or further, and dorsal surface markedly convex but depressed below level of lateral margin (char. 62.1). Gonocoxite lacking stylus (char. 117.1), densely setose (char. 119.1).

Remarks. This subgenus is fully supported in all analyses and is one of the most easily distinguishable groups in the Bagoini. Fairmaire (1898) and Sharp (1917a) created the new genera *Hydronoplus* (here downgraded to subgenus) and *Pseudobagous* (here synonymized with *Hydronoplus*) for *B. signatifrons* and *B. longulus*, respectively. *Hydronoplus* is characterized by nine apomorphies, four in external morphology and five in the shape of male and female genitalia, and includes six Afrotropical species and one Indian species. Since the character-states sequence was identical in the type species of *Hydronoplus* and *Pseudobagous*, only the former appears in the type-species tree (Fig. 10).

Species included. **AFR:** ¹Bagous junodi (Sharp, 1917), ¹B. longulus Gyllenhal, 1836, ¹B. micaceus Hustache, 1924, ¹B. promontorii Marshall, 1906, ¹B. pilitarsis Hustache, 1923, *¹B. signatifrons (Fairmaire, 1898). **ORR:** *²B. nymphaeae Faust, 1888.

Subgenus Hydrillaebagous subgen. n.

(Figs 4C–D, 6A)

Type species: *Bagous hydrillae* O'Brien, 1992. Gender: masculine.

Diagnosis. Endophallus with subbasal pair of dense concentrations of fine, elongate spicules (excluding *B. pauxillulus*) (char. 89.1). Base of endophallus with sacule containing elongate, curved spicules forming dark, somewhat paired masses (excluding *B. blyxae* and *B. matthewsi*) (char. 91.1). Penis body at apex with distinct broad lip. Tegmen with very short parameroid lobes (char. 111.1).

Description. Rostrum moderately short, with antennae inserted subapically. Prosternal canal well-developed, with acutely raised lateral margins. Elytra with humeri obliquely angulate, slightly produced, with declivital callus of interval 5 small, antedeclivital callus of interval 3 absent, odd-numbered intervals slightly convex. Tibiae with apices slightly to markedly arcuate, with setae and denticles prominent or not; tarsi moderately short and sublinear, usually with tarsomere 3 slightly broader than tarsomere 2, and clothed beneath with recumbent, dense, fine pubescence. Penis body at apex with distinct broad lip, with lateral margin of orificial sclerites reaching anterior margin of orifice, with endophallus usually with subbasal pair of dense concentrations of fine, elongate spicules; base of endophallus usually with sacule containing elongate, curved spicules forming dark, somewhat paired masses. Apodemes long. Tegmen with very short parameroid lobes.

Remarks. Monophyly of this subgenus, represented by many Australian species and one Indian species, was almost maximally supported in BI (99% pp), and weakly supported in ML (73% bs) and MP (63% sr). Morphologically, it shows synapomorphies of the male genitalia (char. 91.1 and 111.1). In *B. matthewsi* and *B. blyxae* the ventral surface of the penis body is broadly membranous (as in other unrelated groups) and in *B. ramamurthyi* the pronotum has a distinctly carinate basal margin across middle one-fourth to one-half, a character state shared with many other species of *Bagous*. All the species of this new subgenus appear to live on *Hydrilla*, a genus of the plant family Hydrocharitaceae. Among other bagoines with known biology, only *B. affinis* of the *B. argillaceus* group lives on this genus of plants.

Etymology. The name is composed by the joining of the name *Hydrilla* to the name *Bagous* highlighting the name of the genus of the host plants.

Species included. AUS: ¹Bagous australasiae Blackburn, 1894, *²B. blyxae O'Brien, 1992, ²B. blyxodes O'Brien, 1992, ¹B. brittoni O'Brien, 1992, ¹B. callosus O'Brien, 1992, ¹B. dubius O'Brien, 1992, ¹B. femoralis O'Brien, 1992, *⁴B. fornoae O'Brien, 1992, ¹B. infrequens O'Brien, 1992, *¹B. hydrillae O'Brien, 1992, ²B. matthewsi O'Brien, 1992, ⁴B. meridionalis O'Brien, 1992, ¹B. occiduus O'Brien, 1992, *³B. pauxillulus O'Brien, 1992, ¹B. propinquus O'Brien, 1992, ¹B. proximus O'Brien, 1992, ¹B. purcelli O'Brien, 1992, ⁴B. rieki O'Brien, 1992, ¹B. ramamurthyi O'Brien, 1995.

Subgenus Parabagous Schilsky, 1907 resurrected name

Bagous subgen. Parabagous Schilsky, 1907: N (type species: Bagous chevrolati Tournier, 1874). Klima 1934: 111. Hustache 1930: 206. Hoffmann 1954: 716, 722. González 1971: 5. Caldara & O'Brien 1998: 137. Alonso-Zarazaga & Lyal 1999.
88. Caldara 2013: 172.

Fontenelleus Hoffmann, 1962: 120 (type species: *Bagous cyperorum* Peyerimhoff, 1929). Caldara & O'Brien 1998: 137 (Fontenellus err.). Alonso-Zarazaga & Lyal 1999. 88. Caldara 2013: 172.

Diagnosis. Antenna with segment 7 of funicle nearly as wide as segment 6 (char. 21.0) and distinctly separated from club (except for *B. belloi* with 6 funicular segments). Forehead neither sulcate nor foveate (char. 24.0), with tuberculate elevation along margin of eye (excluding some species). Vestiture of odd-numbered elytral intervals generally tesselate, with alternate rectangles of dark and pale scales; setae of odd-numbered elytral intervals surrounded usually by rosette of scales of same color. Elytra lacking declivital callosities (char. 36.0). Metasternum distinctly shorter than ventrite 1. Tibiae stout, with inner margin weakly bisinuate, lacking denticles and with several moderately short bristles; outer margin of tibiae, especially on hind tibiae, straight or nearly so toward apex (in lateral view) (char. 48.0). Tarsi short, with tarsomere 3 subcordate. Basal sclerite complex with two pairs of subclavate sclerites variously articulated (char. 90.1). Sclerotization of ventral surface of penis body broadly membranous. Apodemes of spiculum ventrale very broadly and arcuately divergent from base (U-shaped) (char. 114.1). Bursa with digitate sclerotized structure (char. 116.1).

Remarks. This subgenus was fully supported in BI and strongly supported in ML and MP (96% bs and sr). The species belonging to this subgenus share four synapomorphies: shape of funicular segment 7 (char. 21.0), features of the sclerite complex at the base of the endophallus of the penis (char. 90.1), shape of the spiculum ventrale (char. 114.1) and the sclerite complex of the bursa (char. 116.1). Some strongly modified external features (*i.e.*, short and robust legs, scale vestiture, long elytral setae) might be related to the biology of these species, which is generally poorly known. These species appear to be more strictly associated with the soil than aquatic habitats. Specimens with known data were collected either in desert or forested habitats, from lowland to high altitude, usually by sifting soil and debris far from permanent aquatic pools.

We refer three groups to this subgenus.

1. Bagous chevrolati group

Diagnosis. Rostrum with dense fringe of seta-like scales in median 1/3 along ventral margin (char. 12.2). Pronotum with more or less rounded sides, with more or less distinct apical constriction, more or less deeply punctured with intervals between punctures more or less granulose. Elytra more or less elongate, with odd elytral intervals covered with recumbent or erect, short or long setae.

Remarks. The species of this group are characterized by one synapomorphy (char. 12.2): the dense fringe of setalike scales along the ventral margin of the rostrum. *B. chevrolati* differs from the other species by the presence of a sclerite complex within the tube of the penis body that has a pair of submedian, subapical sclerites well separated from each other (char. 84.1). *B. belloi* is unique within Bagoini in having 6 funicular segments (char. 19.1), and *B. longirostris* is unique in having the penis body with long pili at the apex (char. 60.1).

Species included. **PAL:** ¹Bagous anatolicus Caldara & O'Brien, 1998, ¹B. andalusiacus González, 1971 *³B. belloi Caldara & O'Brien, 1998, *¹B. chevrolati Tournier, 1874, ¹B. corsicanus Hoffmann, 1936, ¹B. cosiensis Caldara & O'Brien, 1998, ¹B. elongatus Pic, 1896, ¹B. epirotes Caldara & O'Brien, 1998, ¹B. franzi González, 1971, ¹B. freti Caldara & O'Brien, 1998, ¹B. gracilentus Desbrochers des Loges, 1896, ¹B. guttatus Desbrochers des Loges, 1896, ¹B. ibericus González, 1971, ¹B. libanicus Desbrochers des Loges, 1896, *²B. longirostris Vitale, 1904, ¹B. lyauteyi Hoffmann, 1952, ¹B. marocanus Hustache, 1923, ¹B. osellai Caldara & O'Brien, 1998, ¹B. rudicollis Desbrochers des Loges, 1896.

2. Bagous costulatus group

Diagnosis. Penis body with broad horizontal plate over orifice (char. 79.1). Endophallus at base with many large spicules (char. 89.2).

Remarks. This group differs from the *B. chevrolati* group by two character states in the male genitalia (char. 79.1 and 89.2).

Species included. PAL: *Bagous costulatus Perris, 1870, B. sabellai Caldara & O'Brien, 1998.

3. Bagous cyperorum group

Diagnosis. Integument completely hidden by finely pitted, almost smooth (char. 3.1) whitish scales, which on elytral intervals are polygonal and arranged in double rows (char. 41.1). Area over eye tuberculate. Rostrum in cross section cylindrical and equal in length in both sexes (char. 5.0). Tarsomere 3 subcordate, not wider than tarsomere 2.

Remarks. This monospecific group differs from all other Bagoini by the features of the elytral vestiture; within the subgenus *Parabagous* it is characterised by the larger size, the sexually monomorphic rostrum, and the different shape of the tarsi. In all analyses this group was sister to the other species of *Parabagous*, with generally strong support.

Species included. PAL: *Bagous cyperorum Peyerimhoff, 1929.

Subgenus Macropelmus Dejean, 1821 stat.n.

- Macropelmus Dejean, 1821: 89 (type species: Curculio frit Herbst, 1795). Alonso-Zarazaga & Lyal 1999: 88. Caldara 2013: 172.
- *Cyprus* Schoenherr, 1825: c. 585 [type species: *Curculio cylindrus* Paykull, 1800 (= *Bagous tubulus* Caldara & O'Brien, 1994)]. Alonso-Zarazaga & Lyal 1999: 88. Caldara 2013: 172.
- Lyprus Schoenherr, 1826: 288 [type species: Curculio cylindrus Paykull, 1800 (= Bagous tubulus Caldara & O'Brien, 1994)].
 Schoenherr 1836: 536. Schilsky 1907: D (subgen. of Bagous). Sharp 1917b: 103. Hustache 1930: 206 (subgen. of Bagous).
 Hoffmann 1954: 716, 721 (subgen. of Bagous). Dieckmann 1983: 353, 357 (subgen. of Bagous). Caldara & O'Brien 1998: 137. Alonso-Zarazaga & Lyal 1999: 88. Caldara 2013: 172.
- Dicranthus Motschulsky, 1845: 102 [type species: Dicranthus vittatus Motschulsky, 1845 (=Lixus elegans Fabricius, 1801)]. Schilsky 1907: D. Hustache 1930: 203. Klima 1934: 107. Hoffmann 1954: 712. Dieckmann 1983: 350, 352. Kodada et al. 1992: 196. Caldara & O'Brien 1998: 137. Alonso-Zarazaga & Lyal 1999: 88. Caldara 2013: 172.
- *Ephimeropus* Hochhuth, 1847: 543 (type species: *Ephimeropus geniculatus* Hochhuth, 1847). Tournier 1874: 103. Schilsky 1907: Solari 1930: 46. Klima 1934: 108. Hoffmann 1954: 716, 717 (subgen. of *Bagous*). Dieckmann 1983: 353, 354 (subgen. of *Bagous*). Caldara & O'Brien 1998: 137. Alonso-Zarazaga & Lyal 1999: 88. Caldara 2013: 172.
- *Elmidomorphus* Cussac, 1851: 205 [type species: *Elmidomorphus aubei* Cussac, 1851 (= *Curculio petro* Herbst, 1795)]. Bedel 1884: 103 (*Helmintimorphus* err.). Schilsky 1907: N (subgen. of *Bagous*). Sharp 1917b: 107. Hustache 1930: 206 (subgen. of *Bagous*). Caldara & O'Brien 1998: 137. Alonso-Zarazaga & Lyal 1999: 88. Caldara 2013: 172.
- Anactodes Brisout de Barneville, 1863: 497 (type species: Lixus elegans Fabricius, 1801). Caldara & O'Brien 1998: 137. Alonso-Zarazaga & Lyal 1999: 88. Caldara 2013: 172.
- Bagoimorphus Desbrochers des Loges, 1906: 11 [type species: Bagoimorphus laticollis Desbrochers des Loges, 1906 (= Rhynchaenus limosus Gyllenhal, 1827]. Klima 1934: 129. Caldara & O'Brien 1998: 137. Alonso-Zarazaga & Lyal 1999: 88. Caldara 2013: 172.
- Parabagous Sharp, 1917a: 28 (not Schilsky, 1907) [type species: Curculio frit Herbst, 1795). Caldara & O'Brien 1998: 137. Alonso-Zarazaga & Lyal 1999: 88. Caldara 2013: 172.
- *Pnigodes* LeConte, 1876: 188 (type species: *Pnigodes setosus* LeConte, 1876). Klima 1934: 127. Tanner 1943: 33. O'Brien & Wibmer 1982: 93. Alonso-Zarazaga & Lyal 1999: 88. Caldara 2013: 172. Oberprieler *et al.* 2014: 456; **syn. n.**
- Probagous Sharp, 1917b: 102 [type species: Bagous heasleri Newberry, 1902 (= B. czwalinai Seidlitz, 1891)]. Caldara 2013: 172.
- *Bagous* subgen. *Heterobagous* Solari, 1930: 44 [type species: *Bagous nupharis* Apfelbeck, 1906 (= *Bagous rotundicollis* Boheman, 1845)]. Caldara & O'Brien 1998: 137. Alonso-Zarazaga & Lyal 1999: 88. Caldara 2013: 172.

Diagnosis. Penis body long, more than four times longer than wide (char. 57.0), more or less parallel sided in basal 2/3. Laminar orificial lateral sclerites absent (char. 74.0). Penis apodemes short, at most one-third as long as penis body (char. 110.1).

Remarks. The name *Macropelmus* is used here for the first time as a valid name although it is downgraded to a lower rank (resurrected name). It was considered as an available name by Alonso-Zarazaga & Lyal (1999) and subsequently reported only by Caldara (2013) as synonymous with *Bagous*. Previously, but not recently, the name

given to a small part of this group of species (the *B. tubulus* group) was *Lyprus* (Schilsky 1907; Sharp 1917b; Hustache 1930; Hoffmann 1954; Dieckmann 1983). This subgenus includes all the species characterized by short apodemes and a long parallel-sided penis body, although this latter character state is also found in a few species belonging to other subgenera.

In the all-species analysis (Fig. 9) this subgenus was only weakly supported in BI (62% pp). The species belonging to this subgenus clustered in a clade also in MP and ML, but with support lower than 50%. However, in the type-species analysis *Macropelmus* had a strong support in BI (97% pp) and was also supported in ML (84% bs) and MP (61% sr) (Fig. 10).

The species of this subgenus are here distributed in 30 morphological groups, some of which are also supported in the phylogenetic analysis. Ten of them are currently monospecific. Many groups are defined only by characters of male genitalia, which often have a very peculiar shape.

1. Bagous affaber group

Diagnosis. Ventral punctures distinctly large, excavate (char. 43.1). Orificial lateral sclerites with basal margin distinct. Sclerite complex within tube of penis body with pair of submedian, subapical well-separated sclerites (char. 84.1). Dorsal surface at base truncate (char. 64.1). Penis body subbasally notched in lateral view (char. 69.1).

Remarks. This group was strongly supported in all analyses. It has four synapomorphies (char. 43.1, 64.1, 69.1, 84.1), three of which are on the male genitalia. This group is represented by two Palaearctic species (both occurring also on the Indian subcontinent) and one Indian species.

Species included. ORR: *2B. frontalis O'Brien, 1995; ORR & PAL: *1Bagous affaber Faust, 1887, 1B. latepunctatus Pic, 1904.

2. Bagous pictus group

Diagnosis. Sclerites complex within tube of penis body with a pair of submedian subapical and posteriorly joined sclerites (char. 84.2).

Remarks. This monospecific group is mainly characterized by the shape of the penis and the presence of a pair of submedian subapical and posteriorly joined sclerites that are unique within the tribe.

Species included. NAR: *Bagous pictus Blatchley, 1920.

3. Bagous humeridens group

Diagnosis. Pronotal disc moderately to strongly transversely convex. Median impression of ventrite 5 with carinate margin (char. 44.2). Median orificial sclerites with U-shaped, hooked process (char. 82.1). Penis body ventrolaterally with oval lobe in apical third (char. 64.1). Arms of spiculum ventrale with inner margins strongly convergent, joined at ca. midlength (char. 112.1).

Remarks. This group, formed by one Indian and one Australian species, is characterized by one character of ventrite 5 and three unequivocal apomorphic characters in the genitalia. O'Brien & Askevold (1994) placed this group as the sister-group of the *B. apicalis* group on the basis of several external characters, but this relationship was not supported by our analysis.

Species included. AUS: 'Bagous utriculariae O'Brien, 1992; ORR: *1B. humeridens Hustache, 1926.

4. Bagous sellatus group

Diagnosis. Median orificial sclerites with U-shaped, hemispherical sclerite (char. 82.2).

Remarks. This group, formed by two North-American species, is characterized by a unique apomorphy consisting of two orificial sclerites uncommon in their shape and doubtfully related to those observed in the species of the *B. humeridens* group.

Species included. NAR: 1B. blatchleyi Tanner, 1943, *1B. sellatus LeConte, 1876.

5. Bagous apicalis group

Diagnosis. Penis body with unmovable, broad, horizontal plate over orifice (char. 79.2). Shape of venter of penis body ventrolaterally triangular in cross-section, in about middle region (char. 68.1). Apex of penis body very long, asymmetrically deflected to left.

Remarks. This group, composed of one Australian and one Indian species, is characterized by two apomorphies in the penis, unique in the Bagoini. In our matrix we used *B. tuberculatus* since the female of *B. apicalis* is unknown.

Species included. AUS: 'Bagous apicalis O'Brien, 1992. ORR: *1B. tuberculatus O'Brien, 1995.

6. Bagous exilis group

Diagnosis. Body short and broad-oval, very small (length < 2 mm) (Char. 1.1). Forehead between eyes broad. Elytra short, subrectangular, with greatly shortened caudal prolongation (char. 37.1), and lacking declivital callosity (char. 36.0). Scales of elytral intervals arranged in regular pairs, side by side, each interval with two, individually distinct rows of round scales across each interval (char. 41.1). Tibiae with apices only moderately arcuate, lacking denticles; tarsi short, with tarsomere 3 subquadrate and as wide as tarsomere 2. Penis body compressed, dorsoventrally flattened. Median orificial sclerites with upturned Y-shaped process (char. 82.3).

Remarks. This group is formed by three very closely related small-sized Palaearctic species, which are characterized by the lack of declivital callosities and the pattern of the elytral vestiture, which they share with other unrelated groups, and which are differentiated by characters of the male genitalia.

Species included. PAL: ^{§*1}Bagous exilis Jacquelin du Val, 1854, ¹B. fuentei Pic, 1908, ¹B. minutissimus Faust, 1887.

7. Bagous tempestivus group

Diagnosis. Elytra elongate, distinctly wider than pronotum; elytral vestiture tessellate, with distinct stripe in front of declivity. Tarsi long, sublinear. Penis body with pair of movable (char. 80.1), elongate sclerotized plates covering orifice and attached to the orificial margin (char. 79.3), and with median short prominence only visible when plates are opened (char. 81.1).

Remarks. This group is well distinguished from the other species groups by the general habitus, which is characterized by the elongate elytra that are also distinctly wider than the pronotum and which are partly covered with white scales forming a distinct subapical stripe. However, the main difference is in the uncommon shape of the penis body, in which two submedian sclerites are attached to the basal margin of the orifice. Presently this group is composed of three very closely related Palaearctic species, which are reciprocally distinguished by the slightly different shape of tarsomere 3 and/or the shape of the penis. Based on the mtCOI analysis (Fig. 12), *B. tempestivus* resulted associated with *B. monanthifagus* and *B. exilis*, with 81% pp support.

Species included. **PAL:** ¹Bagous czwalinai Seidlitz, 1891, ¹B. macedon Caldara & O'Brien, 1998, ^{§*1}B. tempestivus (Herbst, 1795).

8. Bagous lutosus group

Diagnosis. Body elongate-oval. Tarsi short, tarsomere 3 subcordate and slightly wider than tarsomere 2. Penis body robust, with one pair of elongate sclerotized plates, up-turned at base and covering orifice (char. 79.4), movable (char. 80.1), and with ventral median vermiform sclerite (char. 81.1) only visible when plate is opened. Endophallus with W-shaped sclerite complex basally articulate (char. 84.4), entwined by membranous saccule with many very small spicules and open dorsally (char. 88.1).

Remarks. This monospecific group, presently composed only of *B. lutosus*, a species widespread in Europe and western and central Asia, is easily distinguishable from all other Bagoini by the unique characters of the sclerites of the penis.

Species included. PAL: *Bagous lutosus (Gyllenhal, 1813).

9. Bagous subruber group

Diagnosis. Area over eye tuberculate. Tarsomeres short, nearly as long as wide and all of the same width. Sclerites complex within tube of penis body with two pairs of subapical sclerites, one submedian and the other sublateral and posteriorly joined (char. 84.3). Penis body laterally membranous and dorsally with two overlapping poorly sclerotized pairs of plates covering orifice (char. 67.1).

Remarks. Monophyly of this group is suggested by the uncommon shape of the body of the penis and the endophallic sclerites. Although the unique synapomorphies are in the features of the penis body, these species have a characteristic habitus (shape of pronotum, elytra and legs and elytral vestiture) which allows their easy recognition. The group is presently composed of five Palaearctic species.

Species included. **PAL:** ¹*Bagous aliciae* Cmoluch, 1983, ^{§1}*B. monanthiphagus* Stüben, 2010, ¹*B. septemcostatus* Chevrolat, 1860, ^{*1}*B. subruber* Reitter, 1890, ¹*B. turkmenicus* Egorov & Gratshev, 1990.

10. Bagous dieckmanni group

Diagnosis. Pronotum rugulose, strongly sulcated longitudinally in the middle. Elytral scales shining. Sclerites complex within tube of penis body with a pair of submedian subapical and posteriorly joined sclerites (char. 84.2). Median setal brush behind orifice situated at base of subapical sclerites (char. 92.1). Penis body with apex distinctly sagittate (char. 59.1).

Remarks. The single Palaearctic species presently included in this group is similar in habitus to those of the *B*. *argillaceus* group, from which it differs in the rugulose sculpture of the pronotum.

Species included. PAL: *Bagous dieckmanni Egorov & Gratshev, 1990.

11. Bagous biimpressus group

Diagnosis. Segment 7 of antennal funicle elongate (char. 20.1), nearly as wide as segment 6 (char. 21.1). Antennal club structure indistinctly segmented, 1st segment elongate, glabrous and shining, 2nd and 3rd segments very short, distinctly pubescent (char. 23.1). Prosternal canal scarcely developed (char. 31.1), especially in its proximal half, which is higher than the distal half, forming a weak basal ridge (char. 32.1); postero-lateral margins of prosternal canal barely raised (char. 33.1). Female pygidium with apex broadly blunted (char. 54.1), forming a flat, thickened, arcuate margin (char. 55.1). Sclerites complex within tube of penis body with a pair of submedian subapical sclerites posteriorly joined (char. 84.2). Median setal brush behind orifice situated at base of subapical sclerites (excluding *B. petro*) (char. 92.1).

Remarks. This group was also strongly or moderately strongly supported in the phylogenetic analyses. It traditionally formed the subgenus *Ephimeropus* and is characterized by several genital as well as non-genital characters, in part shared with other groups. Caldara & O'Brien (1998) separated three species—*B. geniculatus, B. geniculatodes* and *B. mucronatus*—in the *B. geniculatus* group, on the basis of several synapomorphies from external morphology—postocular lobe ventrally indistinct, not raised, not forming discontinuity with anterior prosternal margin (char. 30.0); tibiae with long fine swimming hairs, many of which are much longer than diameter of tibia (char. 47.1); third tarsomere sub-glabrous beneath, with few long setae (char. 53.2)—and of the male genitalia—penis body with more or less sagittate apex (char. 5 9.1), with orificial lateral sclerites apically attached to the sides of the penis body (char. 77.1) and distinctly laterally movable (char. 78.1), appearing like a dorsal process ("false" dorsal process).

This group is currently composed of five Palaearctic and one Indian species.

Species included. **ORR:** ⁴Bagous geniculatodes O'Brien, 1995; **PAL:** *¹B. biimpressus Fåhraeus, 1845, *⁴B. geniculatus (Hochhuth, 1847), *⁵B. mucronatus Caldara & O'Brien, 1998, *²B. perparvulus Rosenhauer, 1856, [§]*³B. petro (Herbst, 1795).

12. Bagous argillaceus group

Diagnosis. Scales smooth and shiny, with at most a very fine pit (char. 3.1). Supraocular setae very slender, long, erect and curved. Pronotum with complete median longitudinal sulcus or impression. Prosternum with scarcely evident canal, lateral margin more or less parallel and weakly raised (char. 31.1). Sclerites complex within tube of penis body with two posteriorly joined pairs of subapical sclerites, one submedian and the other sublateral (char. 84.4). Penis body with pseudo-orifice large to very large, apparent orifice strongly extended proximally, ventrally sinuate in area beneath orifice, lateral surface ventral to flange concave. Apodemes of spiculum ventrale strongly divergent, contiguous only at extreme base.

Remarks. This group is characterized by one synapomorphy from external morphology, the vestiture composed of almost smooth and distinctly shiny scales, and two synapomorphies from the genitalia. It was supported in all of the phylogenetic analyses. Prevously, *B. affinis* was placed in a separate monotypic group by O'Brien & Askevold (1995) due to two autapomorphies (scales on pronotal disc sublunate and distinctly emarginate and penis apodemes extremely short; char. 28.1 and 110.2, respectively) and the lack of four synapomorphies of the genitalia possessed by the other species of the *B. argillaceus* group—laminar orificial lateral sclerites present although sometimes only distinguishable at the apical portion (char. 74.1); orificial lateral sclerites obliquely uniformly raised (char. 75.1) and with basal margin distinct; orifice with lateral, transverse vertical sclerite (char. 83.1); and presence of a bursa with sclerites more or less bilobed and convex (char. 116.1). It is represented by four Palaearctic species, three of which with an eastern distribution, and two Indian species.

Species included. **ORR:** *³Bagous affinis Hustache, 1926; ¹Bagous laevigatus O'Brien & Pajni, 1989; **PAL:** *^{§1}B. argillaceus Gyllenhal, 1836, ¹B. foersteri Hartmann, 1899, *²B. fremuthi Dieckmann, 1975, ¹B. sulcicollis Hartmann, 1899.

13. Bagous interruptus group

Diagnosis. Pronotum with prominent to acute anterolateral tubercle (scarcely evident in *B. peregrinus* and *B. meregallii*) (char. 27.1). Sclerites complex within tube of penis body with two posteriorly joined pairs of subapical sclerites, one submedian and the other sublateral (char. 84.5). Pseudo-orifice large to very large, apparent orifice strongly extended proximally (excluding *B. meregallii*). Arms of spiculum ventrale in relation to apodemes sometimes in a lower level.

Remarks. Whereas the external habitus of some species that belong to this group, like *B. meregallii*, is markedly different from others, the shape of the very characteristic male genitalia is extraordinarily similar in all of them. Monophyly of this group was weakly supported in BI (66% pp) and ML (65% bs) but was not supported in MP. The two North American species *B. setosus* and *B. buchanani* belong to this group, and LeConte (1876) created for these species the new genus *Pnigodes*, on the basis of the shape of the pronotum.

This group presently includes species from all regions except Australia.

Species included. **AFR:** ²Bagous fragosus Marshall, 1920, ²B. hybridus Hustache, 1923; **NAR:** ²B. buchanani (Tanner, 1943), *²B. setosus (LeConte, 1876); **ORR:** *¹B. interruptus Faust, 1891, ²B. salebrosus O'Brien & Pajni, 1995, ²B. sumatrensis Faust, 1891, ²B. tonkinianus Hustache, 1926; **PAL:** *³B. bulgaricus Angelov, 1989, ²B. foveifrons Hustache, 1923, ²B. meregallii Caldara & O'Brien, 1998, ²B. peregrinus Gratshev, 1993, ²B. sardiniensis Brisout de Barneville, 1863.

14. Bagous cylindricus group

Diagnosis. Body elongate-cylindrical. Rostrum distinctly short (char. 4.1), subrectangular, scarcely sexually dimorphic. Pronotum 0.90x or more as long as broad (char. 26.1). Sclerites complex within tube of penis body with two pairs of subapical sclerites, one submedian and well separated from each other and the other sublateral and posteriorly joined (char. 84.5). Tube of penis body ventrally with a V-shaped median sclerite fused to the ventral portion and not movable (char. 85.1). Tegmen lacking parameroid lobes (char. 111.2). Gonocoxite with stylus (char. 117.0) although this is very small.

Remarks. This group is characterized by the rostrum which is shorter than in all other bagoines and by a unique pattern of the endophallic sclerites. In ML and MP this group was very weakly associated to the *B. tubulus* group, but such a relationship was not supported in BI.

This group is composed by one Palaearctic species and one Afrotropical species

Species included. AFR: 1Bagous cylindricollis Hustache, 1923; PAL: *1B. cylindricus Rosenhauer, 1856.

15. Bagous tubulus group

Diagnosis. Body elongate-cylindrical. Pronotum 0.90x or more as long as broad (char. 26.1). Rostrum cylindrical, narrow, elongate (especially in female). Elytra nearly as wide as pronotum, without calli (char. 36.0). Sclerites complex within tube of penis body with a pair of submedian subapical sclerites posteriorly joined (char. 84.2), with chela-like basal portion. Median setal brush behind orifice situated at base of subapical sclerites (char. 93.1). Penis body elongate, with sinuate and subparallel sides. Tegmen lacking parameroid lobes (char. 111.2). Arms of spiculum ventrale longer than apodemes, with long apical setae (char. 113.1). Gonocoxites elongate.

Remarks. This group is characterized by the rostrum being cylindrical, narrow, and elongate (especially in the female), and a series of non-genital characters, *e.g.*, the elongate body, and genital character states in part shared also by the species of the *B. cylindricus* group. Previously, *B. elegans* and *B. majzlani* (formerly *Dicranthus*) were separated in a distinct group by Caldara & O'Brien (1998) due to their very distinctive habitus, including the pattern of the dorsal vestiture (char. 39.1 and 39.2), and the shape of the elytra in which the confluence of intervals 3 and 9 is markedly raised and forms a long posteriorly-projecting process (char. 38.1). In both all-species (Fig. 9) and type-species (Fig. 10) analyses this group was strongly supported; the complex comprising *B. tubulus / B. friwaldszkyi* was sister to the complex *B. elegans / B. majzlani*. This group is composed of seven Palaearctic species.

Species included. **PAL:** ^{§*3}Bagous elegans (Fabricius, 1801); ^{*2}Bagous friwaldszkyi Tournier, 1874, ¹B. henoni Hustache, 1927, ^{*4}B. majzlani (Kodada, Holecova & Behne, 1992); ¹B. mingrelicus Tournier, 1874, ¹B. minutus Hochhuth, 1847, ^{*1}B. tubulus Caldara & O'Brien, 1994.

16. B. nodulosus group

Diagnosis. Penis body elongate with sides convergent from base to apex, with ventrobasal margin truncate; dorsal process very high and composed of a pair of very elongate sclerotized pieces, in dorsal view sinuate and joined at base with two small V-shaped vertical orificial sclerites (char. 83.1) and with membrane from dorsal process to proximal margin of orifice.

Remarks. This group is characterized by a very peculiar shape of the penis, especially due to the high dorsal process, and the sclerites. This group was also supported in the phylogenetic analysis (BI: 95% pp; ML: 75% bs; MP: 59% sr). Moreover, the two taxa included in this group, which are largely widespread in the western Palaearctic region, are apparently the only two species living on *Butomus umbellatus* L. (Butomaceae). However, they differ from each other in several external characters. Apart from the general habitus which is distinctly thinner, *B. nodulosus* has a very well-developed declivital callus of interval 5, long and distinctly apically curved tibiae, with distinct denticles, elongate and linear tarsi. In contrast, *B. validus* has a rostrum with numerous scale-like setae along the ventro-lateral margins (char. 12.1) and penis body with sclerotized subtriangular plate behind the dorsal process, (char. 95.1). Due to these differences these species were placed in two separated monotypic groups by Caldara & O'Brien (1998).

Species included. PAL: ^{§*1}Bagous nodulosus Gyllenhal, 1836; ^{*2}Bagous validus Rosenhauer, 1847.

17. Bagous proprius group

Diagnosis. Penis body with dorsal surface at base transverse (char. 64.1), with median setal brush behind orifice absent (char. 93.0). Dorsal surface sulcate behind dorsal process, producing distinctly costate lateral margin, apodemes very short. Penis body widest in front of dorsal process (char. 97.1). Post-orificial dorsal process of penis body almost horizontal, directed distally (char. 98.1).

Remarks. This group is distinctive in the structure of the penis body, especially in the shape of the dorsal process.

Species included. ORR: 1Bagous indistinctus O'Brien, 1995; PAL: *1B. proprius O'Brien & Morimoto, 1994.

18. Bagous rotundatus group

Diagnosis. Body short, broad-oval. Inner surface of dorsal process covered with a dense area of denticles (char. 100.1). Relatively short dorsal process projecting a little proximally, with broad depression behind. Sides behind dorsal process swollen (char. 104.1).

Remarks. This monospecific group is distinctive exclusively in two very peculiar male genital characters (char. 100.1 and char. 104.1).

Species included. PAL: *Bagous rotundatus O'Brien & Morimoto, 1994.

19. Bagous transversus group

Diagnosis. Inner surface of dorsal process covered with a dense area of denticles (char. 100.1). Lateral margin of penis body at base of dorsal process with subapical lateral incision (char. 102.1), with areas laterad and distad of orifice denticulate (char. 66.1). Penis body widest in front of dorsal process (char. 97.1) and markedly constricted immediately proximad of this (char. 107.1); dorsal process semicircular laterally with anterior concavity, very slightly asymmetrical distad of orifice (char. 96.1).

Remarks. This largely widespread group, which includes species from all regions except the Australian and Afrotropical regions, is separated from other species only by male genital characters (three synapomorphies). In the mtCOI analysis *B. limosus* formed a strongly supported clade (96% pp) together with *B. frit, B. longitarsis* and *B. collignensis. Bagous limosus* differs from the other species of the group by the elytra with strial punctures large, one-third to more than one-half of intervals width, a character state shared with other unrelated species.

Species included. NAR: ¹Bagous cavifrons LeConte, 1876, ¹B. maculatus Blatchley, 1916, ¹B. texanus Tanner, 1943, *¹B. transversus LeConte, 1876; ORR: ¹B. loisae O'Brien, 1995, ¹B. similis O'Brien, 1995, ¹B. youngi O'Brien, 1995; PAL: ^{\$*2}B. limosus (Gyllenhal, 1827).

20. Bagous frit group

Diagnosis. Apical margin of pygidium deeply emarginate (char. 55.2). Inner surface of dorsal process covered with a dense area of denticles (char. 100.1). Sublateral margin of penis body behind dorsal process with dorsal, sublateral, carinate, V-shaped, denticulate ridge bordering median depression behind dorsal process (char. 106.2). Lateral margin laterad and distad of orifice denticulate (char. 66.1). Penis body in cross-section T-shaped, the sides deeply compressed behind dorsal process and almost joined at midline (char. 58.1). Sublateral margin of penis body behind dorsal process denticulate (char. 105.1). Apical third of penis body asymmetrically deflected to left and asymmetrically flattened (char. 61.1).

Remarks. This group, composed of the European species *B. frit* and the Japanese species *B. fritodes*, is characterized by several synapomorphies, especially in the male genitalia. Concerning character state 57.1, this

must not be confused with a slight left deflection of the strict apex present in several unrelated species. *B. frit* and the species belonging to the previous group formed a monophyletic clade, supported in BI and ML (respectively, 69% pp and 57% bs) and not supported in MP; relationships between these groups were also suggested by the molecular analysis, where the reciprocal position of *B. frit* and *B. limosus* was, however, reversed.

Species included. PAL: ^{§*1}Bagous frit (Herbst, 1795), ¹B. fritodes O'Brien & Morimoto, 1994.

21. Bagous buckinghami group

Diagnosis. Body elongate-cylindrical. Apex of penis body slightly asymmetrical. Gonocoxite sinuate (char. 118.1), lacking stylus (char. 117.1).

Remarks. This monospecific group is only distinguishable by some character states of the genitalia, especially in the female. The male genitalia are morphologically similar to those of the species of the *B. fractus* and *B. collignensis* groups.

Species included. PAL: *Bagous buckinghami O'Brien & Morimoto, 1994.

22. Bagous fractus group

Diagnosis. Penis body widest in front of dorsal process (char. 83.1), with ventral surface distinctly bicarinate (char. 71.2). Arms of spiculum ventrale apically broadly fused, leaving a small to large membranous central fenestra.

Remarks. O'Brien *et al.* (1995) included *B. fractus* and *B. fractodes*, reciprocally similar in habitus, in the same group, expressing however reservations concerning important differences they share in the shape of the penis. A close relationship between these two species was not supported by our analysis. In *B. fractus* the apex of the penis body is curved on the left only at its strict apex (as in *B. simulans* and *B. apicalis*) but not as in *B. frit* where the penis body is curved on the left from the apical third.

Species included. PAL: *Bagous fractus O'Brien & Morimoto, 1994.

23. Bagous fractodes group

Diagnosis. Penis body widest in front of dorsal process (char. 97.1). Lateral margin behind dorsal process acute (char. 103.1).

Remarks. Due to the results of our analyses, this species is here referred to a distinct group and not classified together with *B. fractus* as previously proposed by O'Brien *et al.* (1995).

Species included. PAL: *Bagous fractodes O'Brien & Morimoto, 1995.

24. Bagous collignensis group

Diagnosis. Apex of penis body angulately explanate, more or less sagittate (char. 59.1), with lateral margin behind dorsal process acute (char. 103.1). Dorsal process with apex directed backward (char. 94.1), with setal brush situated anteromedially (char. 92.2). Penis body widest in front of dorsal process (char. 97.1), broad area behind dorsal process depressed.

Remarks. This group was present as a monophyletic clade also in BI (94% pp), ML (70% bs) and MP (not supported, 49% sr). The molecular analysis (Fig. 12) included this group in the *B. frit* clade, with a strong support (98% pp). All the species included in this group share an almost identical penis, differing only in length and in the shape of the more or less sagittate apex, or by the lateral margin laterad and distad of the orifice being denticulate (as in *B. confusus*, char. 65.1). Some species, like *B. collignensis*, *B. claudicans*, *B. rufimanus*, *B. longitarsis* and *B. vivesi*, are also very similar externally, differing only by small features (length of tarsi and punctures of the pronotum). Other species, like *B. rotundicollis*, *B. riedeli* and *B. lyali*, are characterized mainly by a slender body, flattened elytral dorsum and long legs. However, *B. lyali* is distinguishable from the other two species by the dense

pubescence of the sixth funicular segment (char. 22.1). On the contrary, *B. diglyptus* is easily distinguished by its robust broad-oval body.

This group is composed of Palaearctic, North American and Indian species.

Species included. NAR: ¹Bagous bituberosus LeConte, 1876, ¹B. nebulosus LeConte, 1876, ¹B. pauxillus Blatchley, 1916, ¹B. pusillus LeConte, 1876; ORR: *⁴B. confusus O'Brien, 1995, ¹B. myriophylli O'Brien, 1995: PAL: ¹B. claudicans Boheman, 1845, *^{§1}B. collignensis (Herbst, 1797), ¹B. diglyptus Boheman, 1845, ^{§1}B. longitarsis Thomson C.G., 1868, *³B. lyali Caldara & O'Brien, 1998, ²B. riedeli Caldara & O'Brien, 1998, *²B. rotundicollis Boheman, 1845, ¹B. rufimanus Pericart, 1989, ¹B. tersus Egorov & Gratshev, 1990, ¹B. vivesi González, 1967.

25. Bagous brevis group

Diagnosis. Tarsi sublinear, short; tarsomere 3 as wide as tarsomere 2. Penis body widest at level of dorsal process and constricted behind dorsal process (excluding *B. lutulosus*), with apex subtruncate, very bluntly rounded; dorsal process low, flattened, laterally with pair of short wings obliquely arranged (char. 101.1), with setal brush situated anteromedially (excluding *B. lutulosus*); with costate lateral margin behind dorsal process; ventrally bicarinate from base to below orifice.

Remarks. This Palaearctic group is characterized by the shape of the dorsal process, which is flattened and with pair of lateral wings (char. 101.1). In our analyses it was supported in BI (75% pp) and ML (60% bs). It was recovered as a group, but not supported in MP (44% sr).

Species included. **PAL:** *'*Bagous brevis* Gyllenhal, 1836, '*B. lothari* Caldara & O'Brien, 1998, *'*B. lutulosus* (Gyllenhal, 1827), '*B. revelieri* Tournier, 1874, '*B. rufipennis* Egorov & Gratshev, 1990, '*B. uralensis* Egorov & Gratshev, 1990.

26. Bagous descarpentriesi group

Diagnosis. Apex of penis body bluntly rounded. Dorsal process with setal brush. Presence of two long orificial sclerites distinctly angulated in apical third (char. 74.1).

Remarks. In this monospecific group, the shape of the dorsal process is similar to that of the *B. collignensis* and *B. brevis* groups, from which it is clearly distinguishable by the presence of two orificial sclerites with peculiar shape (char. 74.1).

Species included. AFR: *Bagous descarpentriesi Hustache, 1933.

27. Bagous humeralis group

Diagnosis. Apex of penis body acute but not expanded. Orifice with long setal brush (char. 73.1).

Remarks. This monospecific group was weakly associated in BI to the *B. adelaidae*, *B. fractus* and *B. trapae* groups (52% pp), from which it is, however, distinguishable by the presence of an uncommonly long orificial setal brush, autapomorphic for this species.

Species included. AFR: *Bagous humeralis Marshall, 1906.

28. Bagous adelaidae group

Diagnosis. Side margins of prosternum in lateral view strongly acute and projecting posterad over procoxae (char. 33.2). Declivital callus of interval 5 small but distinct. Tarsi moderately short and sublinear. Penis body with vertical dorsal process and with setal brush. Basoventral area medially depressed and indistinctly sclerotized, ventrolaterally distinctly bicarinate from apodeme to about one-third length of penis body (char. 71.2). Sublateral margin of penis body behind dorsal process with dorsal, sublateral, carinate (char. 105.1), and denticulate (char. 106.1) ridge bordering median depression.

Remarks. This group is distinguishable by four apomorphic characters, one nongenital and three from the male genitalia, one of which homoplastic (char. 71.2). *B. dostinei* differs from the other two species of the group by the apex of the dorsal process not directed backward. It is supported in all analyses (BI: 100% pp; ML: 84% bs; MP: 80% sr).

Species included. AUS: *1Bagous adelaidae Blackburn, 1894, *2B. dostinei O'Brien, 1992, 1B. simulans O'Brien, 1992.

29. Bagous americanus group

Diagnosis. Tarsi elongate; all tarsomeres with similar width. Penis body with ventrobasal area medially depressed, ventrolaterally slightly costate at base (char. 71.1). Postorificial dorsal process of penis body almost horizontal, directed distally (char. 98.1). Lateral margin of penis body behind dorsal process markedly carinate, the surface ventral to the carina markedly excavate, the dorsal surface mesad of the carina markedly depressed (char. 108.1). Dorsal surface of penis body, medially, behind dorsal process more or less markedly raised, forming acute, longitudinal, median carina (char. 109.1).

Remarks. This North American group is distinguished by two unique character states of the male genitalia (char. 108.1 and 109.1).

Species included. **NAR:** *1*Bagous americanus* LeConte, 1876, 1*B. blanchardi* Blatchley, 1916, 1*B. longirostrus* Tanner, 1943, 1*B. magister* LeConte, 1876.

30. Bagous trapae group

Diagnosis. Tibiae with long fine swimming hairs, many much longer than diameter of tibia (char. 47.1). Tibiae broad, with outer and inner margin more or less perpendicular to apex, the apex not slightly narrowed (char. 49.1). Tarsi elongate and linear, tarsomere 3 subglabrous beneath, with few long setae (char. 53.2). Orificial lateral sclerites with basal margin distinct, raised and basally recurved upwards (char. 75.2), distinctly laterally movable (char. 78.1). Median setal brush behind orifice situated on ventral surface of dorsal process (char. 92.3). Dorsal surface of penis body, behind dorsal process with broad depression (char. 99.1). Post-orificial dorsal process of penis body almost horizontal, directed distally (char. 98.1). Arms of spiculum ventrale apically broadly fused, leaving small to large membranous central fenestra. Insertion of spermathecal gland attached on body, anteapically (char. 115.1).

Remarks. This group is well-distinguished by a series of synapomorphies of the legs and especially of the penis, which bears an extremely curious dorsal process that is rich in apomorphies. In *B. colossus* the elytral strial punctures are large, one-third to more than one-half intervals width, similar to other unrelated species.

Species included. AFR: ¹Bagous punctipennis Marshall, 1906, ¹B. remaudierei Hoffmann, 1954; AUS: ¹B. natator O'Brien, 1992; ORR: ^{*2}B. colossus O'Brien, 1995, ^{*1}B. trapae Parshad, 1961.

Key to the genera and subgenera of Bagoini

- Memptorrhynchus lablokoff-Khnzorian
 Rostrum in lateral view moderately curved to almost straight; apex of rostrum without a lateral plica; basal 2/3 of lateral mar-
- gin of rostrum with sparse and irregularly distributed setae. Apodemes of spiculum ventrale not bifurcate (Figs 8E and 8G) . 3
- 3. Body short and broad-oval; very small in size, 2.0 mm or less in length (rostrum excluded). Pronotal disc moderately to strongly transversely convex. Postocular lobe ventrally indistinct, not raised, not forming discontinuity with anterior prosternal margin. Prosternal canal weak. Lateral margins of prosternal canal barely raised. Elytra subquadrate (Fig. 4A), with posterior

	declivity in lateral view strong at 75 degrees (Fig. 4B); declivital callus absent on interval 5 (Fig. 4A); scales of elytral intervals arranged in almost regular pairs, side by side, each interval with two, individually distinct rows of round scales; vestiture with a semicircular white strine at posterior third (Fig. 4A)
-	Species without all these characters taken together. Postocular lobes well-developed; prosternum with deep rostral canal and
	with lateral margins well-developed (Fig. 3C), except for <i>B. geniculatus</i> group of <i>Bagous</i> subgen. <i>Macropelmus</i> (Fig. 3D) 4
4.	Vestiture of odd-numbered elytral intervals generally tessellate, with alternate rectangles of dark and pale scales, or completely
	whitish. Elytra lacking declivital callosities. Tibiae stout, with inner margin weakly bisinuate. Outer margin of tibiae, espe-
	cially on hind tibiae, straight or nearly so toward apex (in lateral view). Tarsi short, with tarsomere 3 broadly cordate to subcor-
	date (Fig. 2F). Basal sclerite complex of endophallus with two pairs of subclavate sclerites variously articulated (Fig. 5C-D).
	In female apodemes of spiculum ventrale very broadly and arcuately divergent from base (U-shaped) (Fig. 8G), and bursa with
	digitate sclerotized structure (Fig. 81)
-	vestiture of odd-numbered elytral intervals with different pattern. Elytra usually at least with a weak to strong callus at the
	declivity of interval 5 (Figs 5F-G). Holde usually longer and with inner margin distinctly distinuate. Other margin of tiblae,
	Basal sclerite complex of endophallus, if present differently shaped. In female anodemes of spiculum ventrale not broadly and
	arcuately divergent from hase (Fig. 8E) and bursa rarely with sclerotized structure and when present not digitate
5.	Rostrum flattened at apex and with dorsal surface at point of antennal insertion distinctly angulate (Fig. 1D). Scrobe in dorsal
	view visible for its entire length (Fig. 1G). Forehead with tuberculate elevation along margin of eye. Pronotum long, 0.90x or
	more as long as broad. Elytra always elongate
-	Rostrum regularly convex from base to apex and with dorsal surface at point of antennal insertion not angulate. Scrobe in dor-
	sal view visible at last in its basal portion (Fig. 1E). Forehead without tuberculate elevation along margin of eye. Pronotum
	shorter. Elytra from short to long
6.	Penis with apodemes long, at least half as long as body (Figs 5A–H)
-	Penis with apodemes short, at most one-third as long as body (Figs 6B–G, /A–I and 8A–D)
7	Orificial lateral sclerites of penis body not reaching anterior margin of orifice (Figs 4A, P, D, F). Endophallus without sub
/.	basal pair of dense concentrations of fine elongate spicules. Base of endophallus without sacule containing elongate curved
	spicules. Penis body at apex at most with short narrow lin, widest at base, thence slightly tanered at least in basal 2/3 (Figs 5E–
	F. 5G). Tegmen with long parameroid lobes.
-	Orificial lateral sclerites of penis body reaching anterior margin of orifice. Endophallus with sub-basal pair of dense concentra-
	tions of fine elongate spicules (excluding B. pauxillulus). Base of endophallus with sacule containing elongate, curved spicules
	forming dark, somewhat paired masses (except B. blyxae and B. matthewsi) (Fig. 6A). Penis body at apex with distinct broad
	lin more or less parallel-sided in basal 2/3 (Fig. 6A). Tegmen with very short parameroid lobes

Acknowledgments

We thank M. Barclay (Department of Entomology, The Natural History Museum, London, U.K.), K. Klass (Museum für Tierkunde, Dresden, Germany), H. Perrin (Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle, Paris, France), and the late B. Viklund (Naturhistoriscka Riksmuseet, Stockholm, Sweden) who sent us specimens on which this study is based. A particular thank to P. Stüben (CURCULIO-Institute, Mönchengladbach, Germany), A. Schütte (Museum König, Bonn, Germany) and I. Toševski (Institute for Plant Protection and Environment, Zemun, Serbia), who allowed us to use their still unpublished molecular data on several species of *Bagous*. A special acknowledgement goes to Dave J. Clarke (University of Memphis) who gave a great contribution in improving the first version of the ms.

TABLE 1. Matrix of the morphological characters used for the phylogenetic analysis.

Character																										
Species	1	2	2	л	5	6	7	8	٩	10	11	12	12	14	15	16	17	18	10	20	21	22	22	24	25	26
, A frumentarium	1	2	-)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	_	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
L crassirostris	0	0	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
0 setiger	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
N scirni	0	0	-	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
P_sinuatocollis	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	_	0	0	1	1	0	1	0	0	0
	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	_	0	1	_	_	0	1	0	0	0
T lemnae	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	_	_	0	0	0	0	0
H abietis	0	0	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	_	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
alismatis	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	1	1	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
brevipennis	0	2	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
crispus	0	2	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	-	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
pvamaeodes	1	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	1	0	0	0	0	-	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
clarencensis	1	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	1	0	0	0	0	-	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
franzi	0	2	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	1	2	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0
lonairostris	0	2	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	1	2	0	0	0	-	0	-	0	0	-	0	0	1	0	0
belloi	0	2	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	1	2	0	0	0	-	0	-	1	_	-	0	0	1	0	0
costulatus	0	2	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	-	0	-	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0
cyperorum	0	2	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0
hydrillae	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
blyxae	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
pauxillulus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
fornoge	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
meridionalis	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
iovi	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	1	0	0	0	0	-	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
minor	1	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
parvus	1	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
deceptus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
iosephi	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
sianatifrons	0	2	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
nymphaeae	0	2	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
compertus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
pvrrhocnemus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
quadrimaculatus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
yamazakii	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
bipunctatus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
bagdatensis	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
kagiashi	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
robustus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
glabrirostris	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
occultus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
difficilis	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
vicinus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
mamillatus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
picturatus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
fastosus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
binodulus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0
affaber	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
frontalis	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
pictus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
tempestivus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
humeridens	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
sellatus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
tuberculatus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0

Character																										
Species	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26
exilis	1	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
subruber	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
dieckmanni	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
biimpressus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	0	0
perparvulus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	0	0
petro	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	0	0
geniculatus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	0	0
mucronatus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	0	0
argillaceus	0	2	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
fremuthi	0	2	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
affinis	0	2	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
lutosus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
bulgaricus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
interruptus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
setosus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
cylindricus	0	2	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
friwaldszkyi	0	2	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
tubulus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
elegans	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
majzlani	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
nodulosus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
validus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
proprius	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
fractodes	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
fractus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
buckingnami	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
rotunaatus limoonuo	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
transvorsus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
frit	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
, m collignensis	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
confusus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
rotundicollis	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
lvali	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0
brevis	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	-	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	-	0	0
lutulosus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	1	0	0	0	0	-	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
descarpentriesi	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
humeralis	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
adelaidae	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
dostinei	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
americanus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
colossus	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
trapae	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0

Character																										
Species	27	20	20	20	21	22	22	21	25	36	27	20	20	10	11	12	12	11	15	16	17	10	10	50	51	52
A frumentarium	0	20	0	0	0	0	-	54 0	0	0	0	0	0	40	41 0	42	43 0	44 0	45 -	40	4 /	40	49 0	0	0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	_	0	0	0	0	0	1	0
l crassirostris	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
– O setiger	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	_	0	0	0	0	0	1	0
 N_scirpi	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	_	1	0	0	0	0	1	0
P_sinuatocollis	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
L_oryzophylus	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
T_lemnae	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	0	0	0	1	0
H_abietis	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	1	0
alismatis	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
brevipennis	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
crispus	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
pygmaeodes	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	1		1	0	1	0	0	0	1
clarencensis	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
jianzi Iongirostris	1	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1		1	0	0	0	0	1	
holloi	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	0	0	0	1	1
costulatus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	_	1	0	0	0	0	1	1
cynerorum	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	_	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
hydrillae	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	_	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
blyxae	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	_	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
pauxillulus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	_	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
fornoae	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
meridionalis	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
јоуі	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
minor	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
parvus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
deceptus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
josephi	0	0	0	1	1	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
signatifrons	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
nympnaeae	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
nvrrhocnemus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	_	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
auadrimaculatus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	_	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
vamazakii	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	_	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
bipunctatus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	_	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
bagdatensis	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
kagiashi	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
robustus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
glabrirostris	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
occultus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
difficilis	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
vicinus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
mamillatus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
picturatus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
jastosus hinodulus	0	0	1	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
affahor	0	0	1	1	2	0	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	<u>/</u> 1	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
frontalis	1	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	E	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
nictus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	<u>+</u> 1	Ē	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
tempestivus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	<u> </u>	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
humeridens	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
sellatus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
tuberculatus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1		1	0	1	0	0	0	1

Character																										
Species	27	28	29	30	31	32	33	34	35	36	37	38	39	40	41	42	43	44	45	46	47	48	49	50	51	52
exilis	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	_	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
subruber	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
dieckmanni	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
biimpressus	1	0	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
perparvulus	1	0	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	_	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
petro	1	0	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
geniculatus	1	0	0	0	0	2	-	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	1	1	0	0	0	1
mucronatus	1	0	0	0	0	2	-	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	1	1	0	0	0	1
argillaceus	0	0	0	1	1	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
fremuthi	0	0	0	1	1	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
affinis	0	1	0	1	1	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
lutosus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
bulgaricus	1	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
interruptus	1	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	1	0	1
setosus	1	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
cylindricus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
friwaldszkyi	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
tubulus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
elegans	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	2	1	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
majzlani	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	2	2	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
nodulosus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
validus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
proprius	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
fractodes	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
fractus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
buckinghami	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
rotundatus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
limosus	1	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	
transversus	1	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
jrit collignonsis	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	_	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
confusus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1		1	0	1	0	0	0	1
rotundicollis	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	_	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
lvali	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	_	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
brevis	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	_	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
lutulosus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	_	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
descarpentriesi	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	_	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
humeralis	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	_	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
adelaidae	0	0	0	1	2	0	2	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	_	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
dostinei	0	0	0	1	2	0	2	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	_	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
americanus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	_	1	0	1	0	0	0	1
colossus	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	_	1	1	1	1	0	0	1
trapae	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-	1	1	1	1	0	0	1

Character																										
Species	53	54	55	56	57	58	59	60	61	62	63	64	65	66	67	68	69	70	71	72	73	74	75	76	77	78
A_frumentarium	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-
C_nucum	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
I_crassirostris	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
O_setiger	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
N_SCIPPI	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-
	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	_	_	_	<u> </u>
T_lemnae	0	0	0	0	1 1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	_	_	_	_
H abietis	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
 alismatis	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
brevipennis	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
crispus	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
pygmaeodes	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
clarencensis	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
franzi	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
longirostris	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
belloi	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
costulatus	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
cyperorum	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0
hlyvae	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0
nauxillulus	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	_
fornoge	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0
meridionalis	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0
јоуі	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
minor	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
parvus	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
deceptus	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
josephi	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
signatifrons	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0
nymphaeae	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0
compertus	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
auadrimaculatus	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
vamazakii	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
bipunctatus	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
bagdatensis	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
kagiashi	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
robustus	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
glabrirostris	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
occultus	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
difficilis	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
vicinus	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
mamillatus	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
picturutus fastosus	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
hinodulus	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
affaber	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
frontalis	1	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
pictus	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	_	_	_	-
tempestivus	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-
humeridens	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	_	-
sellatus	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
tuberculatus	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-

Character																										
Species	53	54	55	56	57	58	59	60	61	62	63	64	65	66	67	68	69	70	71	72	73	74	75	76	77	78
exilis	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
subruber	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-
dieckmanni	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-
biimpressus	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-
perparvulus	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-
petro	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-
geniculatus	2	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	1
mucronatus	2	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	1
argillaceus	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0
fremuthi	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0
affinis	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-
lutosus	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-
bulgaricus	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-
interruptus	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-
setosus	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-
cylindricus	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-
friwaldszkyi	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-
tubulus	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-
elegans	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-
majzlani	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-
noauiosus	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-
vallaus	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-
fractodoc	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	_	_	<u> </u>	<u> </u>
fractus	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	_	_	_	
jrucius buckinghami	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	_	<u> </u>	E	E
rotundatus	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	_	_	_	<u> </u>
limosus	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	_	_	_	_
transversus	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	_	_	_	<u> </u>
frit	1	0	2	1	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	_	_	_	_
collianensis	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	_	_	_	-
confusus	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	_	_	_	<u> _</u>
rotundicollis	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	_	_	-	-
lyali	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	-	-	-	-
brevis	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	_	_	-	-
lutulosus	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	-	-	-	-
descarpentriesi	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	1	0	0
humeralis	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	1	0	-	-	-	-
adelaidae	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	-	-	-	-
dostinei	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	-	-	-	-
americanus	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	-	-	-	-
colossus	2	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	1	2	0	0	1
trapae	2	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	1	2	0	0	1

Character																								
species	79	80	81	82	83	84	86	87	88	89	90	91	92	93	94	95	96	97	98	99	100	101	102	103
A_frumentarium	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
C_nucum	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
I_crassirostris	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
O_setiger	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
N_scirpi	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
P_sinuatocollis	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	5	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
L_oryzopnyius	0	-	-	0	0	0	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
I_lemnae	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
H_addretis	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
alismatis brovinonnio	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	3 2	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
crispus	0	-	<u> </u>	0	0	1	-	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	–	_	_	_	_	_	-	-		
nyamaeodes	0	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	E	_	_	_						_
clarencensis	0			0	0	0	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
franzi	0	_	_	0	0	0	_	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Ionairostris	0	_	_	0	0	0	_	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
helloi	0	_	_	0	0	0	_	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
costulatus	1	0	0	0	0	0	_	0	0	2	1	0	0	0	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
cvnerorum	0	_	_	0	0	0	_	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
hydrillae	0	_	_	0	0	0	_	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
blyxae	0	_	_	0	0	0	_	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
pauxillulus	0	_	_	0	0	0	_	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
fornoae	0	_	_	0	0	0	_	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
meridionalis	0	_	_	0	0	0	_	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
joyi	0	_	_	0	0	0	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	-
minor	0	-	-	0	0	0	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	-
parvus	0	-	_	0	0	0	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	_	_	-
deceptus	0	-	-	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	_	_	_	-	-	-	-	-	-
josephi	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
signatifrons	0	-	-	0	0	0	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
nymphaeae	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	6	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
compertus	0	-	-	0	0	3	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	_	_	_	-	-	-	-	-	-
pyrrhocnemus	0	-	-	0	0	3	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
quadrimaculatus	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
yamazakii	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	1	0	0	0	2	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
bipunctatus	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
bagdatensis	0	-	-	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
kagiashi	0	-	-	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
robustus	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
glabrirostris	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
occultus	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
difficilis	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
vicinus	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
mamillatus	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	1	0	0	4	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
picturatus facto curo	0	-	-	U	U	U	-	1	U	U	U	U	U	U	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
jastosus hinodulus	0	-	-	0	0	1	-	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-
offabor	0	-	-	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	4	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
ujjaber frontalis	0	-	-	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
prontalls	0			0	0	1 2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		-	-	-			-	-	-	-
tempestivus	2	1	1	0	0	ے ا		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	E	E	E	E	E	E	E	E	<u> </u>	
humaridana	5	1 -	1 	1	0	0	<u> </u>	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	E	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	E	E	E	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	
sellatur	0	E	E	2	0	0	<u> </u>	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	E	E	E	E	E	E	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	_
tuherculatus	2	0	0	0	0	0	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	E	<u> </u>	_	_	_	_				
caser culutus	1 4	10	10			<u>ا</u> ب		<u>ا</u> ب	U 1	<u>ا</u> ب	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1				

Character																								
Species	79	80	81	82	83	84	86	87	88	89	90	91	92	93	94	95	96	97	98	99	100	101	102	103
exilis	0	_	_	3	0	0	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
subruber	0	-	-	0	0	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	_	_	_
dieckmanni	0	-	-	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	-	-	-	_	_	-	-	-	_	_
biimpressus	0	-	-	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	-	_	_
perparvulus	0	-	-	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
petro	0	-	_	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	-
geniculatus	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	-	-	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	-
mucronatus	0	-	_	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	-	-	-	_	_	-	-	-	-	-
argillaceus	0	-	-	0	1	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
fremuthi	0	-	-	0	1	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
affinis	0	-	-	0	0	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
lutosus	4	1	1	0	0	4	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
bulgaricus	0	-	-	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
interruptus	0	-	-	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
setosus	0	-	-	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
cylindricus	0	-	-	0	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
friwaldszkyi	0	-	-	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
tubulus	0	-	-	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
elegans	0	-	-	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
majzlani	0	-	-	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
nodulosus	0	-	-	0	1	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
validus	0	-	-	0	1	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
proprius	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0
fractodes	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
fractus	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
buckinghami	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
rotundatus	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0
limosus	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	1	0
transversus	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	1	0
frit	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0
collignensis	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
confusus	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
rotundicollis	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
lyali	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1
brevis	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	0
lutulosus	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
descarpentriesi	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
humeralis	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
adelaidae	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
dostinei	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
americanus	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	0	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0
colossus	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	3	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0
trapae	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	0	3	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0

Character															
Snecies															
A frumontarium	104	105	106	108	109	110	111	112	113	114	115	116	117	118	119
		_				0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
L crassirostris	_	_	_	_	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
0 setiaer	_	_	_	_	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
N scirpi	_	_	_	_	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
P_sinuatocollis	_	-	-	_	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
 L_oryzophylus	_	_	-	_	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
T_lemnae	_	-	-	_	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
H_abietis	_	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
alismatis	-	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
brevipennis	-	-	_	1	-	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0
crispus	-	-	-	_	-	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0
pygmaeodes	-	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
clarencensis	-	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
franzi	-	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0
longirostris	-	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0
belloi	-	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0
costulatus	-	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0
cyperorum	-	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0
hydrillae	-	-	-	-	-	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
blyxae	_	-	-	-	-	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
pauxiliulus formono	_	-	-	-	_	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
pornoue maridianalis		-	_			0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
iovi						0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
joyi minor						0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
nanuus	_	_	_	_	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
decentus	_	_	_	_	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
iosenhi	_	_	_	_	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
sianatifrons	_	_	_	_	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
nymphaeae	_	_	_	_	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
compertus	_	_	_	_	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
, pyrrhocnemus	_	-	_	_	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
quadrimaculatus	_	-	_	_	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
yamazakii	_	-	-	-	-	0	0	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?
bipunctatus	_	-	_	_	_	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0
bagdatensis	-	-	_	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
kagiashi	-	-	-	_	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
robustus	-	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
glabrirostris	-	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
occultus	-	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
difficilis	-	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
vicinus	-	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0
mamillatus	-	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
picturatus	-	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
justosus hinodulus		-	-	—	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
pinoauius affah ar	-	-	-	-	-	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
frontalis	<u> </u>	<u> </u>				1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
nictus		<u> </u>	_	_		1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
temnestivus	_	_	_	_	_	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
humeridens	_	_	_	_	_	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
sellatus			_	_	_	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
tuberculatus	_	-	-	_	-	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Character															
Snecies		4.05	100												
ovilia	104	105	106	108	109	110	111	112	113	114	115	116	117	118	119
exilis	-	-	-	-	-	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
subruber	-	-	-	-	-	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
hiimprossus	-	-	-	-	-	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
porparuulus	_		_			1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
perpurvulus						1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
geniculatus	_	_	_	_	_	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
mucronatus	_	_	_	_	_	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
araillaceus	_	_	_	_	_	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0
fremuthi	_	_	_	_	_	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0
affinis	_	_	_	_	_	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
lutosus	_	_	_	_	_	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
bulgaricus	_	_	_	_	_	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
interruptus	_	-	_	_	_	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
setosus	_	-	_	_	_	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
cylindricus	_	-	_	_	-	1	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
friwaldszkyi	_	-	_	-	-	1	2	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
tubulus	-	-	-	-	-	1	2	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
elegans	-	-	-	-	-	1	2	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
majzlani	-	-	-	-	-	1	2	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
nodulosus	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
validus	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
proprius	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
fractodes	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?
fractus	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
buckinghami	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0
rotundatus	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
limosus	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
transversus	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
frit	0	1	2	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
collignensis	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
confusus	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
rotundicollis	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
lyalı	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
brevis	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
lutulosus decemmentariasi	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
aescarpentriesi	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
numeralis	0	1	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
doctinoi	0	1	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
amoricanus	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
colossus	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
trange	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
napue	U	0	U	U	U	1	U	v	U	U	1	U	U	U	U

References

- Alonso-Zarazaga, M.A. & Lyal, C.H.C. (1999) A World Catalogue of Families and Genera of Curculionoidea (Insecta: Coleoptera) (Excepting Scolytidae and Platypodidae). Entomopraxis S.C.P. Edition, Barcelona, 315 pp.
- Askevold, I.S., O'Brien, C.W. & Morimoto, K. (1994) Systematics and evolution of weevils of the genus *Bagous* Germar (Coleoptera, Curculionidae). III. Phylogenetic analysis of the species from Japan. *Esakia*, 34, 75–129.
- Bedel, L. (1884) Faunes des Coléoptères du Bassin de la Seine. Vol. VI. Rhyncophora (Cont). Annales de la Société Entomologique de France, Series 6, 4 (3), Publication Hors Séries, 81–96.
- Brisout de Barneville, H. (1863) Monographie des espéces européennes et algériennes du genre *Bagous. Annales de la Société Entomologique de France*, Series 4, 3, 491–524.
- Buckingham, G.R. (1988) Reunion in Florida hydrilla, a weevil, and a fly. Aquatics, 10 (1), 19–25.
- Buckingham, G.R. & Bennett, C.A. (1998) Host range studies with *Bagous affinis* (Coleoptera: Curculionidae), an Indian weevil that feeds on hydrilla tubers. *Environmental Entomology*, 27 (2), 469–479. https://doi.org/10.1093/ee/27.2.469
- Caldara, R. (2013) Curculionidae: Bagoinae. In: Löbl, I. & Smetana, A. (Eds.), Catalogue of Palaearctic Coleoptera. Vol. 8. Leiden, Brill, pp. 56–58, 172–176
- Caldara, R. & O'Brien, C.W. (1998) Systematics and evolution of weevils of the genus *Bagous*. VI. Taxonomic treatment of the species of the western Palaearctic Region (Coleoptera Curculionidae). *Memorie della Società Entomologica Italiana*, 76 [1997], 131–347.
- Center, T.D., Parys, K, Grodowitz, M., Wheeler, G.S., Dray, F.A., O'Brien, C.W., Johnson, S. & Cofrancesco, A. (2013) Evidence of establishment of *Bagous hydrillae* (Coleoptera: Curculionidae), a biological control agent of *Hydrilla verticillata* (Hydrocharitales: Hydrocharitaceae) in North America? *Florida Entomologist*, 96 (1), 180–186.
- Cock, M.J.W., Hinz, H.L., Grosskopf, G. & Häfliger, P. (2008) Development of a Biological Control Program for Eurasian Watermilfoil (Myriophyllum spicatum). Aquatic Plant Control Research Program, CABI Europe, Delémont, 33 pp.
- Cussac, E. (1851) Description d'un genre nouveau de curculionites prope a la faune française. Annales de la Société Entomologique de France, Seires 2, 9, 203–208.
- Dejean, P.F.M.A. (1821) Catalogue de la collection de Coléoptères de M. le Baron Dejean. Crevot, Paris, 8 + 136 + 2 pp.
- Desbrochers des Loges, J. (1906) Curculionidae nouveaux d'Europe et circa. Le Frelon, 14, 9-22.
- Dieckmann, L. (1964) Die mitteleuropäischen Arten aus der Gattung Bagous Germ.. Entomologische Blätter, 60, 88-111.
- Dieckmann, L. (1983) Beiträge zur Insektenfauna der DDR: Coleoptera—Curculionidae (Tanymecinae, Leptopiinae, Cleoninae, Tanyrhynchinae, Cossoninae, Raymondionyminae, Bagoinae, Tanysphyrinae). Beiträge zur Entomologie, 33 (2), 257–381.
- Fairmaire, L. (1898) Matériaux pour la faune coléoptérique de la region malgache. 5e note. Annales de la Société Entomologique de Belgique, 42, 222-260.
- Germar, E.F. (1817) Miscellen und Correspondenz-Nachtrichten. Magazin der Entomologie, 2, 339-341.
- Gillett, C.P.T.D., Crampton-Platt, A., Timmermans, M.J.T.N., Jordal, B.H., Emerson, B.C. & Vogler, A.P. (2014) Bulk De Novo Mitogenome Assembly from pooled total DNA elucidates the phylogeny of weevils (Coleoptera: Curculionoidea). *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 31 (8), 2223–2237. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msu154
- Goloboff, P.A., Farris, J.S. & Nixon, K.C. (2008) TNT, a free program for phylogenetic analysis. *Cladistics*, 24, 774–786. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1096-0031.2008.00217.x
- González, M. (1971) Sobre el subgénero Parabagous Schilsky. Publicaciones del Instituto de Biologia Aplicada, 50, 5-16.
- Gosik, R. (2013) Morphology of larval and pupal stages of selected species of Bagoinae Thomson, 1895 with comments on their biology and taxonomy. Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Marii Curie-Skłodowskiej, Lublin, 127 pp.
- Gunderson, M.D., Kapuscinski, K.L., Crane, D.P. & Farrell, J.M. (2016) Habitats colonized by non-native flowering rush *Butomus umbellatus* (Linnaeus, 1753) in the Niagara River, USA. *Aquatic Invasions*. [in press]
- Gunter, N.L. Oberprieler, R.G. & Cameron, S.L. (2015) Molecular phylogenetics of Australian weevils (Coleoptera: Curculionoidea): exploring relationships in a hyperdiverse lineage through comparison of independent analyses. *Australian Entomology*, 55 (2), 217–233.
- Hochhuth, I.H. (1847) Enumeration der Rüsselkäfer, welche vom Baron Maximilian von Chaudoir und vom Baron A. von Gotsch auf ihren Reisen im Kaukasus und in Transkaukasien im Jahre 1845 gesammelt wurden; nebst Beschreibung der neuentdeckten Arten. Bûlleten' Moskovskogo obŝestva ispytatelej prirody, 20 (1), 448–587.
- Hoffmann, A. (1954) Faune de France 59 Coléoptères Curculionides (Deuxième partie). Le Chevalier, Paris, pp. 487–1208.
- Hoffmann, A. (1962) Curculionides inédits et observations diverses concernant quelques espèces de cette familie appartenant à la faune africaine. *Bulletin de la Société Entomologique de France* 67, 120–128.
- Huelsenbeck, J.P., Larget, B. & Alfaro, M.E. (2004) Bayesian phylogenetic model selection using reversible jump Markov chain Monte Carlo. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 21 (6), 1123–1133. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msh123
- Hunt, T., Bergsten, J., Levkanicova, Z., Papadopoulou, A., St. John, O., Wild, R., Hammond, P.M., Ahrens, D., Balke, M., Caterino, M.S., Gómez-Zurita, J., Ribera, I., Barraclough, T.G., Bocakova, M., Bocak, L. & Vogler, A. (2007) A comprehensive phylogeny of beetles reveals the evolutionary origins of a superradiation. *Science*, 318, 1913–1916. https://

/doi.org/10.1126/science.1146954

Hustache, A. (1930) Curculionidae Gallo-Rhénans. Annales de la Société Entomologique de France, 49, 81-272.

- Klima, A. (1934) Pars 140. Curculionidae: Erirrhininae. In: Schenkling, S. (Ed.), Coleopterorum Catalogus. W. Junk, s'-Gravenhage, 167 pp.
- Iablokoff–Khnzorian, S.M. (1960) Three new species of Coleoptera from Araks Valley. *Doklady Akademie Nauk Armenische SSR Erevan*, 31, 251–256. [in Russian]
- Kodada, J., Holecova, M. & Behne, L. (1992) The genus *Dicranthus*. I. Taxonomic revision, karyology and notes on the biology (Coleoptera: Curculionidae). *Koleopterologische Rundschau*, 62, 195–211.
- Kôno, H. (1934) Die Japanische Hylobiinen (Col. Curc.). Journal of the Faculty of Agriculture Hokkaido Imperial University, 33, 223–249.
- Kuschel, G. (1971) Entomology of the Aucklands and other islands south of New Zealand: Coleoptera: Curculionidae. *Pacific Insects Monograph*, 27, 225–259.
- LeConte, J.L. (1876) In: LeConte, J.L. & Horn, G.H. The Rhynchophora of America North of Mexico. Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society, 15 (96), i-xvi + 1-455.
- Lyal, C.H.C. (2014) 3.7.1 Molytinae Schoenherr, 1823. In: Leschen, R.A.B. & Beutel, R.G. (Eds.), Coleoptera, Beetles. Vol. 3. Morphology and Systematics (Phytophaga). Handbook of Zoology: Arthropoda: Insecta. De Gruyter, Berlin/Boston, pp. 529–570.
- Lyal, C.H.C. (Ed.) Glossary of Weevil Characters. International Weevil Community Website. Available from: http://weevil.info/glossary-weevil-characters (accessed 20 October 2016)
- Marvaldi, A.E., Sequeira, A.S., O'Brien, C.W. & Farrell, B.D. (2002) Molecular and morphological phylogenetics of weevils (Coleoptera, Curculionoidea): do niche shifts accompany diversification? *Systematic Biology*, 51, 761–785. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 10635150290102465
- McKenna, D.D., Sequeira, A.S., Marvaldi, A.E. & Farrell, B.D. (2009) Temporal lag and overlap in the diversification of weevils and flowering plants. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106 (17), 7083–7088.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0810618106

- Motschulsky, V. (1845) Remarques sur la collection de Coléoptères russes. Bulletin de la Société Impériale des Naturalistes de Moscou, 18, 1–127.
- Neresheimer, J. & Wagner, H. (1930) Kritische Vorstudien zu einer monographischen Revision der Gattung Bagous. Coleopterologische Centralblatt, 4, 255–277.
- Oberprieler, R.G. (2014) 3.7.1 Brachycerinae Billberg, 1820. In:Leschen R.A.B. & Beutel R.G. (Eds.), Coleoptera, Beetles. Vol. 3. Morphology and Systematics (Phytophaga). Handbook of Zoology: Arthropoda: Insecta. De Gruyter, Berlin/Boston, pp. 424–451.
- Oberprieler, R.G., Caldara, R. & Skuhrovec, J. (2014) 3.7.2. Bagoini Thomson, 1859; Gonipterini Lacordaire, 1863; Hyperini Marseul, 1863. In: Leschen, R.A.B. & Beutel, R.G. (Eds.), Coleoptera, Beetles. Vol. 3. Morphology and Systematics (Phytophaga). Handbook of Zoology: Arthropoda: Insecta. De Gruyter, Berlin/Boston, pp. 452–476.
- Oberprieler, R.G., Marvaldi, A.E. & Anderson, R.S. (2007) Weevils, weevils, weevils everywhere. Zootaxa, 1668, 491–520.
- O'Brien, C.W. & Askevold, I.S. (1992) Systematics and evolution of weevils of the genus Bagous Germar (Coleoptera: Curculionidae). I. Species of Australia. *Transactions of the American Entomological Society*, 118 (4), 331–452.
- O'Brien, C.W. & Askevold, I.S. (1995) Systematics and evolution of weevils of the genus *Bagous* Germar (Coleoptera: Curculionidae), V. Taxonomic treatment of the species of the Indian Subcontinent. *Contributions of the American Entomological Institute*, 28 (5), 1–182.
- O'Brien, C.W., Askevold, I.S. & Morimoto, K. (1994) Systematics and evolution of weevils of the genus *Bagous* Germar (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) II. Taxonomic treatment of the species of Japan. *Esakia*, 34, 1–73.
- O'Brien, C.W., Askevold, I.S. & Morimoto, K. (1995) Systematics and evolution of weevils of the genus *Bagous* Germar (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) IV. Three new species from Japan. *Esakia*, 35, 1–15.
- O'Brien, C.W. & Marshall, G.B. (1979) U.S. *Bagous*, bionomic notes, a new species, and a new name (Bagoini, Erirhininae, Curculionidae, Coleoptera). *The Southwestern Entomologist*, 4 (2), 141–149.
- O'Brien, C.W. & Pajni, R.H. (1989) Two Indian *Bagous* weevils (Coleoptera, Curculionidae), tuber feeders of *Hydrilla* verticillata (Hydrocharitaceae), one a potential biocontrol agent in Florida. *Entomologist*, 72 (3), 462–468. https://doi.org/10.2307/3495184
- O'Brien, C.W. & Wibmer, G.J. (1982) Annotated checklist of the weevils (Curculionidae *sensu lato*) of North America, Central America, and the West Indies (Coleoptera: Curculionoidea). *Memoirs of the American Entomological Institute*, 34, i–ix + 1–382.
- Prena, J., Colonnelli, E. & Hespenheide, H.A. (2014) 3.7.9 Conoderinae Schoenherr, 1833. In: Leschen R. A. B. & Beutel R. G. (eds) Coleoptera, Beetles. Vol. 3. Morphology and Systematics (Phytophaga). Handbook of Zoology: Arthropoda: Insecta. De Gruyter, Berlin/Boston, pp. 577–589.
- Pullen, K.R., Jennings, D. & Oberprieler, R.G. (2014) Annotated catalogue of Australian weevils (Coleoptera: Curculionoidea). Zootaxa, 3896 (1), 1–481.

https://doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.3896.1.1

Rambaut, A. (2014) Figtree. Tree Figure Drawing Tool Version 1.4.2. Institute of Evolutionary Biology, University of

Edinburgh. Available from: http://tree.bio.ed.ac.uk/ (accessed 23 May 2017)

- Reitter, E. (1913) Bestimmung-Schlüssel der mir bekannten europäischen Gattungen der Curculionidae, mit Einschluss der mir bekannten Gattungen aus dem palaearctischen Gebiete. *Verhandlungen des Naturforschenden Vereines in Brünn*, 51, 1–90.
- Ronquist, F., van der Mark, P. & Huelsenbeck, J.P. (2009) Bayesian phylogenetic analysis using MrBayes. In: Lemey, P., Salemi, M. & Vandamme, A.-M. (Eds.), The phylogenetic handbook. A practical approach to phylogenetic analysis and hypothesis testing. Second edition. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 210–266. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/CBO9780511819049.009
- Ronquist, F., Teslenko, M., van der Mark, P., Ayres, D.L., Darling, A., Höhna, S., Larget, B., Liu, L., Suchard, M.A. & Huelsenbeck, J.P. (2012) MrBayes 3.2: efficient Bayesian phylogenetic inference and model choice across a large model space. *Systematic Biology*, 31 (3), 539–542.

https://doi.org/10.1093/sysbio/sys029

- Schilsky, J. (1907) *Die Käfer Europa's. Nach der Natur beschrieben von Dr. H.C. Kuster und Dr. G. Kraatz. Heft 44.* Bauer und Raspe (E. Küster), Nürnberg, iv + A-II + 100 nr. + [2 Nachträge und Berichtigungen] pp.
- Schoenherr, C. J. (1825) Continuatio Tabulae synopticae Familiae Curculionidum. Isis von Oken, 1825 (5), 581–588.
- Schoenherr, C.J. (1826) Curculionidum dispositio methodica cum generum characteribus, descriptionibus atque observationibus variis, seu Prodromus ad Synonymiae Insectorum, partem IV. Fleischer, Lipsiae, x + 338 pp.
- Schoenherr, C.J. (1836) Genera et species curculionidum, cum synonymia hujus familiae. Species novae aut hactenus minus cognitae, descriptionibus a Dom. Leonardo Gyllenhal, C. H. Boheman, et entomologis aliis illustratae. Tomus tertius. Pars secunda. Roret, Parisiis & Fleischer, Lipsiae, pp. 506–858.
- Sharp, D. (1917a) Studies in Rhynchophora. Entomologist's Monthly Magazine, 53, 26-32.
- Sharp, D. (1917b) Studies in Rhynchophora. 2. The British Bagoini. Entomologist's Monthly Magazine, 53, 100-108.
- Silvestro, D. & Michalak, I. (2011) raxmlGUI: a graphical front-end for RAxML. *Organism Diversity and Evolution*, 12, 335–337.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s13127-011-0056-0

- Skuhrovec, J., Caldara, R., Stejskal, R., Sprick, P. & Gosik, R. (East CURCULIO Team) (2011) Digital Weevil Determination for Curculionoidea of West Palaearctic. Transalpina: Bagous (Bagoinae). *Snudebiller*, 12, 39–56.
- Solari, F. (1930) Sulla eccezionale conformazione dei tarsi (visibilmente pentameri) nel genere *Ephimeropus* Hochhuth ed in alcuni altri Bagoini (Col. Curc.). *Bollettino della Società Entomologica Italiana*, 62, 42–50.
- Sprick, P. (2001) Suitability of an insect group for the Habitats Directive of the EU: The weevil subfamily Bagoinae (Col., Curculionidae). Contributions to the Ecology of Phytophagous Beetles VII. *Snudebiller*, 2, 7–40.
- Stals, R. (2008) Chapter 22. Curculionidae. In: Stals, R. & de Moor, I.J. (Eds.), Guides to the Freshwater Invertebrates of Southern Africa. Vol. 10. Coleoptera. Water Research Commission, Pretoria, pp. 183–191.
- Stüben, P.E., Schütte, A., Bayer, C. & Astrin, J.J. (2015) The Molecular Weevil Identification Project (Coleoptera: Curculionoidea), Part II. Towards an Integrative Taxonomy. *In: SNUDEBILLER: Studies on taxonomy, biology and ecology of Curculionoidea*. 16 (237). CURCULIO-Institute, Mönchengladbach, 1–294.
- Tanner, V.M. (1943) A study of the subtribe Hydronomi with a description of new species (Curculionidae). Study No. VI. *Great Basin Naturalist*, 4, 1–38.
- Thompson, R.T. (1992) Observations on the morphology and classification of weevils with a key to the major groups. *Journal of Natural History*, 26, 835–891.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00222939200770511

- Tournier, H. (1874) Matériaux pour la monographie de la tribu des Erirrhinides de la famille des Curculionides (Coléoptères). *Annales de la Société Entomologique de Belgique*, 17, 63–116.
- Wheeler, G.S. & Center, T.D. (1997) Growth and development of the biological control agent *Bagous hydrillae* as influenced by Hydrilla (*Hydrilla verticillata*) stem quality. *Biological Control*, 8, 52–57. https://doi.org/10.1006/bcon.1996.0484
- Wibmer, G.J. (1981) Revision of the New World weevil genus *Tyloderma* in America North of Mexico (Coleoptera: Curculionidae: Cryptorhynchinae). *The Southwestern Entomologist*, No. 3 (Supplement), 1–95.
- Wibmer, G.J. (1989) Revision of the weevil genus *Tyloderma* Say (Col.: Curculionidae) in Mexico, Central America, South America, and the West Indies. *Evolutionary Monographs*, 11, 1–118.
- Wright, A.M. & Hillis, D.M. (2014) Bayesian Analysis Using a Simple Likelihood Model Outperforms Parsimony for Estimation of Phylogeny from Discrete Morphological Data. *PLoS ONE*, 9 (10), e109210. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0109210